

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

HUIE GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE PARKING LOT

2020-EXE-13

August 2020

Proposal Opening: Thursday, September 24, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. EST

1600 Battle Creek Road, Morrow, GA 30260

Non-Mandatory

Pre-Proposal Meeting and

Site Visit:

Thursday, September 10, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. EST Terry Hicks Water Production Complex Parking Lot 1693 Freeman Road, Jonesboro, Georgia 30236

This project will be partially funded with a grant from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("USEPA") and will be subject to the Georgia Environmental Protection Division requirements which include a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) goal.

Table of Contents

Division 1	General Information	
Section 1	Request for Proposals	1-1.1
Section 2	General Overview	1-2.1
	2.1 Background	1-2.1
	2.2 Project Description	1-2.1
	2.3 Funding	1-2.1
	2.4 Fair Share	1-2.1
	2.5 Federally Mandated Certifications and Disclosures	1-2.2
	2.6 General Federal Grant Conditions	1-2.4
	2.7 Proposal Submission	1-2.3
	2.8 Proposal Format	1-2.5
	2.9 Proposal Evaluation Criteria	1-2.7
	2.10 Proposal Schedule	1-2.8
	2.11 Addendum	1-2.8
	2.12 Proposal Preparation Costs	1-2.8
Division 2	Proposal Requirements	
Section 1	Instructions to Proposers	2-1.1
Section 2	Risk Management Requirements	2-2.1
Section 3	Required Submittals	2-3.1
Section 4	Cost Proposal Form	2-4.1
Section 5	Georgia Bid Bond	2-5.1
Section 6	Proposer Qualification Information / References Form	2-6.1
Section 7	Contractor Affidavit & Agreement	2-7.1
Division 3	Contract Forms	
Section 1	Agreement Form	3-1.1
Section 2	Performance Bond	
Section 3	Payment Bond	3-3.1
Section 4	Non-Collusion Certificate	3-4 1

Table of Contents

Attachments

- A Technical Specifications
- B Construction Drawings
- C Affidavit of Interim Waiver and Release Upon Payment
- D Affidavit of Waiver and Release Upon Final Payment
- E Vendor Form
- F W-9 Form

Addenda (None Issued at This Time)

END OF TABLE OF CONTENTS

Clayton County Water Authority
Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot

August 2020

Division 1

General Information

Section 1: Request for Proposals

Clayton County Water Authority 1600 Battle Creek Road Morrow, Georgia 30260

Name of Project: Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot

The Clayton County Water Authority will open sealed proposals from licensed contractors on **Thursday, September 24, 2020 at 10 a.m. local time** at its office located at 1600 Battle Creek Road, Morrow, Georgia 30260, for **Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot.** Any proposals received after the specified time will not be considered.

A Non-Mandatory pre-proposal meeting and site visit will be held in the parking lot of the Hicks Water Production Complex, 1693 Freeman Road, Jonesboro, Georgia 30236 on **Thursday, September 10, 2020 at 10:00 a.m. local time**. Proposers are encouraged to attend; however, attendance is not required.

This project will be partially funded with a grant from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("USEPA"). CCWA encourages Disadvantaged Business Enterprises to participate and respond to this proposal request.

In an effort to promote responsible environmental practices the proposal package is available in electronic (Adobe PDF) format and can be requested by calling **770-960-5223**, M-F, 8:00 am - 5:00 pm or by e-mail to **CCWA_Procurement@ccwa.us**. Proposers will need to provide contact information and an email address and any file size transfer limits to ensure email transmittals can be made. A hardcopy proposal package can also be requested at a cost of \$25.

Clayton County Water Authority By: Robin Malone, Chairman

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

2.1 Background

The existing overflow parking lot for the Terry R Hicks Water Production Complex is 100% impervious area. This parking lot is near the headwaters of the Pates Creek Watershed which flows into the CCWA's Blalock Reservoir, which is one of the drinking water supplies for Clayton County residents. The parking lot is used for tour groups and other events at the Terry R Hicks Water Production Complex.

The goal of the Huie Green Infrastructure Project is to create a Green Infrastructure (GI) demonstration area by integrating bioretention areas, bioswale areas, and pervious pavers while refreshing the parking lot. The new GI will improve stormwater runoff quality, protect Pates Creek, and serve as an educational demonstration area.

2.2 Project Description

Project consists of providing services for the construction of a parking lot with green infrastructure features. Work includes the following:

- a. Demolition of Existing Facilities
- b. Clearing and Grubbing
- c. Site Erosion Sediment Control
- d. Site Grading
- e. Site Hardscape & Landscape
- f. Site Green Infrastructure Measures
- g. Design/Build Services for Landscape Irrigation System
- h. All Other Work Necessary for the Completion of the Project

2.3 Funding

The Proposer acknowledges that this Contract is funded with a grant from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("USEPA"). In the event that the USEPA determines that the source of payment no longer exists or is insufficient with respect to the Services, the USEPA shall terminate the grant. The CCWA reserves the right to terminate this contract under the provisions included in the Agreement Form.

2.4 Fair Share

This Contract is being partially funded with a grant from the USEPA. It is the policy of the USEPA to ensure to the fullest extent possible that at least a negotiated "Fair Share" percentage of federal funds awarded to prime and subcontractors in

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

support of USEPA programs be made available to Disadvantaged Business Enterprises ("DBE").

- a. The Contractor agrees to ensure to the fullest extent possible that at least 4% Minority Business Enterprises (MBE) and 4% Women Business Enterprises (WBE) of federal funds for contracts or subcontracts for supplies, construction, equipment or services are made available to organizations owned or controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals, women and historically black colleges and universities.
- b. To evaluate compliance with the "Fair Share" policy, the Proposer must comply with the following six affirmative steps as appropriate:
 - i. Including qualified minority and women businesses on solicitation lists;
 - ii. Assuring that minority and women's businesses are solicited whenever they are potential sources;
 - iii. Dividing total requirements, when economically feasible, into small tasks or quantities to permit maximum participation of minority and women's businesses;
 - iv. Establishing delivery schedules, where the requirements of the work permit, which will encourage the participation by minority and women's businesses;
 - v. Using the services and assistance of the US Small Business Administration and the Office of Minority Business Enterprise of the US Department of Commerce; and
 - vi. Requiring each party to a sub-agreement to take the affirmative steps outlined in paragraphs (i) through (ii) of this section.
- c. The Contractor is required to submit semiannual reports to the CCWA, which include a separate total for MBE/WBE utilization for inclusion in semi-annual reports to the Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD). The Contractor may provide this breakout on each invoice instead of a separate semi-annual report.

2.5 Federally Mandated Certifications and Disclosures

- a. Lobbying
 - i. Disclosure Regarding Lobbying: Contractor hereby warrants as a condition of this Contract that if it is an organization described in Section 501(c)(4) of

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, it will not engage in lobbying activities prohibited by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1985.

- ii. Certification Regarding Lobbying: Contractor certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that:
 - 1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid in full or will be paid, by or on behalf of Contractor, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.
 - 2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this contract, then Contractor shall fully disclose same to the Division, and shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying", in accordance with its instructions.
- b. Drug Free Work Place: Contractor certifies that, in accordance with the provisions of O.C.G.A. § 50-24-1, et seq., a drug-free workplace will be provided to Contractor's employees during the performance of this contract; and it will secure from any subcontractor hired to work in a drug-free workplace the following written certification: "As part of any subcontracting agreement (Subcontractor's Name), certifies to Contractor that a drug-free workplace will be provided for the subcontractor's employees during the performance of this Contract pursuant to paragraph 7 of subsection (b) of Code 50-24-3."
- c. Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters:
 - i. The Contractor certifies that it and its principles:
 - 1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, and declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency.
 - 2. Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

antitrust statutes; or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property.

- 3. Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity with commission of any of the above offenses.
- 4. Have not within a three-year period preceding this contract had one or more public transactions terminated for cause or default.
- ii. Where the Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such Contractor shall attach an explanation to this contract.
- d. Equal Employment Opportunity: The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee for employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The Contractor will comply with all sections of Executive Order 11246 -Equal Employment Opportunity.

2.6 General Federal Grant Conditions

All covenants, agreements and stipulations in Part 200 Chapter II of Subtitle A, Title 2, Code of Federal Regulations, are incorporated herein by reference. To access the Code of Federal Regulations, click here, or visit the Electronic Code of Federal Regulations' website at https://www.ecfr.gov/. The parties acknowledge those general grant conditions and intend that all those covenants, agreements, and stipulations between the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and CCWA are applicable to and enforceable against the Contractor. Allowable costs will be determined in accordance with the cost principles in the hereto referenced Code of Federal Regulations.

- a. The Contractor will assure the continued proper operation and maintenance of all nonpoint source management practices that have been implemented for projects funded under this agreement. Such practices shall be operated and maintained for the expected lifespan of the specific practice and in accordance with commonly accepted standards. The Contractor shall include a provision in every applicable sub-agreement (contract) awarded under this grant requiring that the management practices for the project be properly operated and maintained.
- b. The Contractor agrees to ensure that all necessary permits (such as Clean Water Act § 404) are obtained prior to implementation of any grant funded activity that may fall under applicable federal, state, or local laws. The

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

Contractor project implementation plan must identify permits that may be needed to complete activities identified in Appendix A: Scope of Work. The Contractor must keep documentation regarding necessary permits in the project file.

2.7 Proposal Submission

One (1) original, five (5) bound and one (1) electronic submission of the Proposal in pdf format (excluding the Cost Proposal Form ⁽¹⁾) are required. The proposal shall be submitted in a sealed, opaque container and delivered by hand, courier services, or mailed via the United States Postal Service to the Clayton County Water Authority, 1600 Battle Creek Road, Morrow, Georgia, 30260. No facsimiles or emails will be accepted. At the time specified for the Proposal Opening, the sealed containers shall be publicly opened, and the names of Firms shall be read aloud.

One original paper copy of the Cost Proposal Form must be submitted in a separate sealed envelope and placed within the sealed submittal package. The envelope must be marked: "Cost Proposal." The Cost Proposal envelopes will NOT be opened until all evaluations and references are completed for all proposers. The Utility Contractor License Number for the project must be written on the outside of the Envelope.

A Bid Bond must be submitted in a separate sealed envelope (not with the Cost Proposal envelope) and placed within the sealed submittal package.

2.8 Proposal Format

The Proposal Response for Sections 1-4 shall be limited to a maximum length of 10 pages (not including Forms, separately sealed Bid Bond, and separately sealed Cost Proposal Form). Each Proposal Response should be prepared and presented to include the information outlined below with clear delineation provided for each section. In order for the Proposal Response to be considered responsive, Section 1-5 below need to be completed as follows:

Section 1 – Cover Letter

A letter (2 pages maximum) of introduction and interest on letter head. Provide the full legal name, firm's principal business office with address and satellite offices, if any, and indicate the location from which these services for the CCWA would be conducted. Specifically, offer the location of the on-site superintendent. Include telephone number, point of contact and official signature of an authorized company representative. Indicate whether you operate as a single proprietorship,

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

partnership, or corporation. Include the state(s) in which you are incorporated and/or licensed to operate. Provide your Georgia Contractor's License number as well as your Georgia Utility License number (if a sub-contractor will perform piping work, clearly indicate the name of the subcontractor with their Georgia Utility License Number).

<u>Section 2 – Project Understanding and Experience</u>

Present your technical experience with the construction of surface parking lot facilities, the construction of green infrastructure elements, and the installation of design/build landscape irrigation systems within the last five years. Highlight any similar projects completed for municipal clients. The project experience should clearly define whether the contractor was the prime or a subcontractor and include experience both with surface parking lot construction and with green infrastructure construction. The project description should identify the project dates and location (city, state).

For the installation of design/build landscape irrigation systems, the proposer must be capable of providing shop drawings to the CCWA for review and approval.

Outline the approach to protecting the Green Infrastructure elements during construction. Outline the approach to protect the water vault and other sensitive CCWA utilities during construction.

Section 3 – Project Team

Specifically name the on-site superintendent and other key personnel who will be onsite overseeing construction. Summarize the on-site superintendent's experience overseeing surface parking lot facilities and/or Green Infrastructure construction within the last five years. If the on-site superintendent does not have experience with Green Infrastructure, identify the on-site expert for the construction of these elements. Identify the subcontractors that will be used for successful completion of the project. Identify the on-site project manager's current project assignments, completion dates, and percentage availability to support this project work.

Provide a summary of company-wide resources and equipment. Note the total employees and describe the resources/equipment that will be assigned to the successful completion of the job. Indicate whether this equipment is owned (by prime or subcontractor), leased or rented.

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

If the prime intends to hire subcontractors, document the name of all subcontractors with a clear description of the work they will perform.

<u>Section 4 – Project References (Prime and Subcontractors)</u>

Provide five references in accordance with the Reference Form provided in Division 2 Section 6: Proposer Qualification Information. Two (2) references will demonstrate experience constructing surface parking lot facilities, two (2) references will demonstrate experience constructing green infrastructure features, and one (1) reference will demonstrate experience installing design/build irrigation. References are required for all sub-contractors and shall include the sub-contractor company name, sub-contractor location, sub-contractor on-site superintendent, Georgia Business License Number, the number of years in business, and three (3) trade references.

Section 5 – Cost Proposal

The Cost Proposal Form must be submitted in a separate sealed envelope, marked "Cost Proposal" and placed within the sealed submittal package. The Cost Proposal envelopes will NOT be opened until all evaluations and references are completed for all Proposers.

In order for the Proposal submission to be considered responsive, the Cost Proposal Form must be completed in its entirety.

2.9 Proposal Evaluation Criteria

Initially, all proposals will be reviewed by CCWA Procurement to determine if the proposal submittal is a complete and responsive responsible submittal to our RFP. Proposals will be evaluated by CCWA staff and ranked based on the criteria items A – C shown below. CCWA staff will then evaluate the Cost Proposal submission and will rank the proposals.

Item	Evaluation Criteria	Points
Α	Cover Letter, Project Understanding and Experience	15
В	Project Team	10
С	Project References (Prime and Subcontractors)	25
D	Cost Proposal	50
	Maximum Total Points	100

General Information

Section 2: General Overview

2.10 Proposal Schedule

The following is a proposed schedule and a guideline for all Proposers (all time listed are local time):

Request for Proposal Released	Wednesday, August 19, 2020
Non-Mandatory Pre-Proposal Meeting	Thursday, September 10, 2020
Deadline for Questions	Monday, September 14, 2020
Issue Last Addendum	Thursday, September 17, 2020
Proposal Opening	Thursday, September 24, 2020
Anticipated Board Approval	Thursday, November 5, 2020
Anticipated Signed Contract	Monday, December 7, 2020
Planned Start Date	Monday, December 21, 2020

2.11 Addendum

Proposers may ask questions regarding this project prior to the proposal opening. To be considered, all questions must be received in writing via email at (CCWA_Procurement@ccwa.us) by 10:00 a.m. (local time) on Monday, September 14, 2020. Any and all responses to Proposers' questions will be issued in the form of Addendum by email. All addenda issued shall become part of the Proposal Documents.

2.12 Proposal Preparation Costs

Costs for developing proposals are entirely the responsibility of the Proposer and shall not be chargeable to the Clayton County Water Authority.

Proposal Requirements

Section 1: Instructions to Proposers

These instructions are to be followed by every entity proposing to provide the Clayton County Water Authority (CCWA) with goods and/or services. These instructions constitute an integral part of the proposal, and any Proposer agrees that tender of a proposal constitutes acknowledgment and acceptance of its obligation to adhere to these instructions, which are to be incorporated into and considered part of any contract the Proposer ultimately executes with the CCWA.

- 1. If there is any question whatsoever regarding any portion of the specifications, it shall be the Proposer's responsibility to seek clarification immediately from the CCWA, as early as possible prior to the proposal opening. Regarding public works projects, requests for interpretations of specifications must be made in writing to the department proposing out the project not later than five (5) days prior to receipt of proposals.
- 2. Unless it is otherwise stated in the proposal documents, it shall be the responsibility of the proposer to inform itself as to all conditions of the work site and to make and take account thereof in calculating and submitting its proposal. Documents may be made available by the CCWA during the proposal process; no warranty of accuracy is made in regard to these documents, and it is the responsibility of the proposer to make its own investigations as to the nature of the work and the conditions under which it shall be performed, and to make its own independent assumptions as to these matters. The burden of anticipating unforeseen circumstances, either hidden or latent, and the conditions of the work site and all related circumstances, and the cost of accommodating therefore should unanticipated circumstances be later encountered shall rest upon the proposer.
- 3. Pre-proposal meeting or any other information session will be held at the location as indicated in the solicitation. Unless indicated otherwise, attendance is not mandatory; although proposers are strongly encouraged to attend. However, in the event the meeting is mandatory, then a representative of the proposer must attend the meeting in its entirety to be considered eligible for solicitation award. Late entry to the meeting will not be allowed.
- 4. In the event that, after the acceptance of a proposal by the Board of Directors of the CCWA, any unsuccessful proposer wishes to contest such action, a written "Notice of Contest" must be filed with the General Manager no later than close of business on the 5th business day after the selection of successful proposer by the Board. Failure to timely file such notice shall forever preclude the filing of a contest of the award, or any civil action in the courts of the State of Georgia or of the United States.
- 5. Proposals must be made on the enclosed Proposal Form. Unless otherwise requested, one (1) original and at least two (2) copies of the Proposal Form need to be submitted, and these copies must be typewritten or printed in ink. All copies of any Proposal

Proposal Requirements

Section 1: Instructions to Proposers

Forms must be signed in ink by the person or persons authorized to sign the Proposal Form. The person signing the Proposal Form must initial any changes or corrections.

Information submitted by the Proposers in the proposal process shall be subject to disclosure after proposal award in accordance with the Georgia Open Records Act. Proprietary information must be identified and be accompanied by a signed affidavit outlining the redacted information. Entire proposals may not be deemed proprietary.

- 6. The name of the person, firm, or corporation making the proposal must be printed in ink, along with the Proposer's signature, on all separate sheets of the Proposal Form. If a proposal is made by an individual, his name and post office address must be shown. If made by a firm, or partnership, the name and the post office address of each member of the firm or partnership must be shown. If made by a Corporation, the person or persons signing the proposal must show the name of the State under the laws of which the Corporation is chartered and his, or their, authority for signing same. The names, titles and addresses of the President, Secretary and the Treasurer and the corporate authority for doing business in this state shall be listed and returned with the Proposal Form.
- 7. All proposals must be hand delivered, delivered by courier service, or mailed via the United States Postal Service. No facsimiles will be accepted. The person, firm, or corporation making the proposal shall submit it in a sealed envelope on or before the date and time specified in the proposal package. The envelope shall be marked "Sealed Proposal" and carry the proposal title, Contractor's License Number and date and time of opening as set forth in the proposal package. The envelope shall also bear the name of the party making the proposal and the party's address. Address proposals to Clayton County Water Authority, 1600 Battle Creek Road, Morrow, Georgia, 30260. Even if a proposal is not submitted, the Proposal Form should be returned signed and with an explanation, otherwise the result will be deletion from the mailing list.
- 8. If published price books are a part of your proposal, one price book must be included with your Proposal Form, and the successful Proposer is required to furnish additional current price books after award of the proposal.
- 9. Alterations to the documents are strictly prohibited and shall result in automatic disqualification of the Contractor's proposal. If there are "exceptions" to the specifications or comments to any of the solicitation requirements or other language, then the proposer may ask questions regarding those requirements or submit additional documentation as to the variation from the specifications, but may not alter any of the language contained in the solicitation.

Proposal Requirements

Section 1: Instructions to Proposers

- 10. In the case of goods, the person, firm or corporation making the proposal may propose all items. All items may be considered separately, at the discretion of the CCWA.
- 11. Proposals for public works whose price exceeds \$100,000.00 must be accompanied by a certified check, cashier's check, or acceptable bid bond in an amount not less than five percent (5%) of the amount proposed.
- 12. Proposers for construction contracts where the laws of Georgia or the United States of America require a license in order to perform such construction must list the license number and class on the face of the proposal envelope and must enclose copies of any required license with the proposal.
- 13. When public work is let out for proposal, no person shall prevent or attempt to prevent competition in such proposal. Such Proposers must make an oath filed with the officer who makes payments under the contract that they have not prevented or attempted to prevent competition in the proposal process. Such oath must be signed by: if a partnership, all partners and any officer or agent or other person who acted on the partnership's behalf during the proposal process; if a corporation, all officers, agents, or other persons who acted for the corporation in the proposal process.
- 14. Proposals shall not be withdrawn or cancelled by the proposer past the proposal opening date and time. The proposer may make modifications/corrections to the proposal by submitting a corrected seal proposal but only if the change is prior to the proposal opening. The corrected document should be clearly marked that it supersedes the proposal originally submitted. No modification or corrections will be allowed subsequent to the proposal opening.
- 15. By tendering a proposal, a Proposer agrees to leave the proposal open for acceptance by the CCWA for sixty (60) days after the date set for the opening thereof.
- 16. By tendering a proposal, the Proposer certifies that the Proposer has carefully examined these instructions and the terms and specifications applicable to and made a part of the proposal. The Proposer further certifies that the prices shown in any schedule of items on which the Proposer is proposing are in accordance with the conditions, terms and specifications of the proposal and that they are aware that any exception taken thereto may disqualify the proposal. Proposers are required to inform themselves fully as to the availability of materials and the conditions relating to construction and labor under which any work will be or is now being performed. No error or misjudgment nor any lack of information on local conditions, general laws or regulations on the part of the Proposer shall merit withdrawal of the proposal.

Proposal Requirements

Section 1: Instructions to Proposers

- 17. Copies of all communication pertaining to proposals must be sent to the Contracts, Compliance and Risk Management Section.
- 18. The purpose of this proposal is to establish contract prices. Unit price extension and net total must be shown if applicable. Cash discounts should be indicated separately. Any applicable sales taxes should be included in the unit prices for all materials to be provided by the successful Proposer.
- 19. Proposers are hereby notified and agree by submission of a Proposal Form that if additional items not listed in the Proposal Form become necessary and require unit prices not established by the Proposal Form, the unit prices of such items shall be negotiated and shall be directly proportional to the established unit prices of similar items in the Proposal Form.
- 20. All prices on goods shall be for delivery, our destination, f.o.b. freight prepaid Jonesboro, Georgia, and/or Morrow, Georgia, unless otherwise shown. Any deliveries shall be made as needed and requested throughout the contract period.
- 21. Quantities when shown are estimates only, based on anticipated needs. The CCWA reserves the right to purchase more or less based on actual need at contract price. If a Proposer intends to offer minimum or maximum shipment quantities, such intent and such quantities should be specified on the Proposal Form. Otherwise, none will be assumed.
- 22. The time for completion of the work is stated in the Proposal Form. Failure to complete the work within this period shall result in payment to the CCWA of liquidated damages in an amount provided for by contract for each calendar day in excess of the Contract time.
- 23. The Proposer must employ such methods and means in carrying out the work as will not cause any interruption of or interference with any other Proposer.
- 24. The successful Proposer must comply with the applicable Risk Management Requirements prior to beginning performance, and during the contract period.
- 25. The Contract between the CCWA and the Proposer shall be executed on a form provided by CCWA and will be subject to all requirements of the contract documents (which include but may not be limited to the Contract, these instructions, any Purchase Orders, the Risk Management Requirements, and the Hold Harmless Agreement), and shall form a binding contract between the contracting parties.
- 26. Failure to execute the Contract, any required Surety Performance and Payment Bonds, or to furnish any required satisfactory proof of carriage of required insurance within ten

Proposal Requirements

Section 1: Instructions to Proposers

- (10) days from the date of notice of award of the Contract shall be just cause for the annulment of the award and for forfeiture of the proposal guaranty to the CCWA, not as a penalty, but in liquidation of damages sustained. At the discretion of the CCWA, the award may then be made to the next lowest responsible proposer, or the work may be re-advertised or constructed by the CCWA.
- 27. Any Contract and Contract Bonds shall be executed in duplicate.
- 28. Award of this proposal shall be by action of the CCWA Board at its regular monthly meeting.
- 29. The CCWA reserves the right, with or without notice or cause, to accept any proposal regardless of the amount thereof; to reject any proposal, or any number of proposals; to negotiate with any Proposer for a reduction of or alterations in its proposal; to reject all proposals and to call for additional proposals upon the same or different invitations to proposal, plans or specifications; to be sole judge, in its discretion, on all questions as to whether or not a proposal complies with the invitation to proposal, the plans or the specifications, and as to the solvency and sufficiency of any and all sureties on all bonds.
- 30. The apparent low proposal for goods shall be considered to be the lowest aggregate total price of specified products at their unit prices times the estimated required quantities of these specified products.
- 31. Proposers are notified that the Authority reserves the right except in the case of public works contracts to include among the factors considered in awarding the contract the proximity of each Proposer's place of business to any affected Authority facility. The Authority further reserves the right to award the contract to a Proposer other than the Proposer offering the lowest price where: (a) the difference in price between the low Proposer and the preferred Proposer is nominal: and (b) the Authority's Board determines that the preferred proposal provides the most cost effective option due to the closer proximity of the preferred Proposer's place of business to the affected Authority facility or facilities. In such a situation, by responding to this proposal, the Proposer waives any cause of action against the Authority for frustration of proposal or under any similar legal theory; furthermore, the Proposer agrees to pay all costs and expenses, including but not limited to attorney fees, incurred by the Authority in defending against any such claim.
- 32. It is the policy of the Clayton County Water Authority (CCWA) to promote award of sub-agreements for goods and/or services to qualified minority and women-owned businesses. Proposers are encouraged to solicit small local, minority and women-owned businesses whenever they are potential sources.

Proposal Requirements

Section 1: Instructions to Proposers

33. Proposers are encouraged to utilize the services and assistance of the U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA), and the office of the Department of Commerce Minority Business Development Agency (MBDA). These agencies can provide assistance in securing the names of qualified minority and women-owned businesses. Additionally, it is encouraged that proposers access certified Small Local Business Enterprise (SLBE) vendors from Clayton County, DeKalb County, and City of Atlanta.

The Georgia Department of Transportation (DOT) has established a list of qualified Disadvantaged Business Enterprises. Information is available online under the tab for "Directories", link for "UCP Directory - Excel" at:

http://www.dot.ga.gov/PS/Business/DBE

GEORGIA SECURITY AND IMMIGRATION COMPLIANCE ACT OF 2006

- 35. Pursuant to the Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act of 2006, the successful Proposer understands and agrees that compliance with the requirements of O.C.G.A.13-10-91 and Georgia Department of Labor Rule 300-10-02 are conditions of this proposal and contract document. The Proposer further agrees that such compliance shall be attested by the Proposer and any of his Subcontractors by execution of the appropriate Affidavit and Agreement included after the Agreement Form of these documents.
- 36. The successful Proposer must comply with any and all the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("USEPA") requirements as part of this Request for Proposal. To access the Code of Federal Regulations, click here, or visit the Electronic Code of Federal Regulations' website at https://www.ecfr.gov/.

Proposal Requirements

Section 2: Risk Management Requirements

The Contractor will provide minimum insurance coverage and limits as per the following: The Contractor will file with CCWA Certificates of Insurance, certifying the required insurance coverages and stating that each policy has been endorsed to provide thirty (30) day notice to CCWA in the event that coverage is cancelled, non-renewed, or the types of coverage or limits of liability are reduced below those required. All bonds and insurance coverage must be placed with an insurance company approved by CCWA's Management, admitted to do business in the State of Georgia, and rated Secure ("B+" or better) by A.M. Best Company in the latest edition of Property and Casualty Ratings, or rated by Standard & Poors Insurance Ratings, latest edition as Secure ("BBB" or better). Worker's Compensation self-insurance for individual Contractors must be approved by the Worker's Compensation Board, State of Georgia and/or Self-Insurance pools approved by the Insurance Commissioner, State of Georgia.

CONTRACTS FOR UP TO \$50,000

Worker's Compensation – Worker's Compensation coverage on a statutory basis for the State of Georgia with an Employer's Liability limit of \$100,000 each Accident, Disease \$100,000 each employee, \$500,000 Disease policy limit.

Automobile Liability – Automobile liability coverage for owned, hired and non-owned vehicles in the amount of \$500,000 combined single limit.

Commercial General Liability – Coverage to be provided on "occurrence" not "claims made" basis. The coverage is to include Contractual liability, Per Project Limit of Liability, losses caused by Explosion, Collapse and Underground ("xcu") perils, the "Clayton County Water Authority" is to be added as an Additional Insured and Products and Completed Operations coverage is to be maintained for three (3) years following completion of work.

CONTRACTS FOR MORE THAN \$50,000

Worker's Compensation – Worker's Compensation coverage on a statutory basis for the State of Georgia with an Employer's Liability limit of \$1,000,000. The increased Employer's Liability limit may be provided by an Umbrella or Excess Liability policy.

Automobile Liability - Automobile liability coverage for owned, hired and non-owned vehicles in the amount of \$1,000,000 combined single limit.

Commercial General Liability – Coverage to be provided on "occurrence" not "claims made" basis. The coverage is to include Contractual liability, Per Project Limit of Liability, losses caused by Explosion, Collapse and Underground ("xcu") perils, the "Clayton County Water Authority" is to be added as an Additional Insured and Products and Completed Operations coverage is to be maintained for three (3) years following completion of work.

Proposal Requirements

Section 2: Risk Management Requirements

RISK MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS (Cont'd)

CONTRACTS FOR UP TO \$50,000

CONTRACTS FOR MORE THAN \$50,000

LIMITS OF LIABILITY:

\$1,000,000	Per Occurrence
\$1,000,000	Personal and Advertising
\$50,000	Fire Damage*
\$5,000	Medical Payments*
\$1,000,000	General Aggregate
\$1,000,000	Products/Completed Operations per

Occurrence and Aggregate

Owner's Protective Liability – The Authority's Management may, in its discretion, require Owner's Protective Liability in some situations.

Umbrella and/or Excess Liability – The umbrella or Excess Liability Policy may be used to combine with underlying policies to obtain the limits required. The Management of the Authority may elect to require higher limits.

Owner's Protective Liability – The Authority's Management may, in its discretion, require Owner's Protective Liability in some situations.

^{*}These are automatic minimums

Proposal Requirements

Section 3: Proposal Submittals

Required Submittals:

The following forms are required to be included as part of the proposal submittal. Failure to include any of these items may result in the proposal being deemed non-responsive:

- A. Cost Proposal Form This must be submitted in a <u>separate</u> sealed envelope and placed within the completed sealed RFP submittal package.
- B. Georgia Bid Bond in the amount of five percent (5%) of the total Proposal Cost The Bid Bond must be provided in a <u>separate</u> sealed envelope and placed within the completed sealed RFP submittal package.
- C. Proposer Qualification Information Form.
- D. Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act of 2006.
- E. Contractor Affidavit and Agreement.
- F. Subcontractor Affidavit.

If a Contractor/Subcontractor will not be performing any services under this contract, the Contractor/company submitting the bid MUST also complete, sign, date, and have both Affidavit forms notarized and make proper notation of "N/A" - Not Applicable.

The CCWA cannot consider any proposal which does not include completed affidavits. It is not the intent of this notice to provide detailed information or legal advice concerning the Georgia Security & Immigration Compliance Act of 2006, as amended on May 11, 2009. All Proposers intending to do business with CCWA are responsible for independently apprising themselves and complying with the requirements of that law, and its effect on CCWA procurements and their participation in those procurements.

- G. Copy of the General Contractors License and Utility Contractor's License and any other license(s) required to perform the work. The Utility Contractor's License may be held by the subcontractor who will be performing all utility work.
- H. Any other items as required in this RFP including but not limited to the items contained in the Instructions to Proposers.
- I. Non-Collusion Certificate provided on Division 3, Section 4.
- J. Vendor Form.
- K. W-9 Form.
- L. Addenda (if any issued).

Proposal Requirements

Section 4: Cost Proposal Form

This Form must be provided in a separate sealed envelope and placed within the completed sealed RFP submittal package.

Proposal of	
(Hereinafter "Proposer"), organized and ex	isting under the laws of the State of
doing business as partnership," or "an individual" or such othe	(insert "a corporation," "a r business entity designation as is applicable)
To the Clayton County Water Authority (he	reinafter "Owner").

In compliance with the Request for Proposals, Proposer hereby proposes to perform all work for <u>Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot</u> in strict accordance with the Contract Documents as enumerated in the Request for Proposals, within the time set forth therein, and at the prices stated below.

The proposer has examined the site and locality where the Work is to be performed and legal requirements (federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations) and conditions affecting the Work cost, difficulty, progress or performance and has made independent investigations that the Proposer deems necessary.

By submission of this proposal, Proposer certifies, and in the case of joint proposal each party thereto certifies as to the party's own organization that this proposal has been arrived at independently, without consultation, communication, or agreement as to any matter relating to this proposal with any other Proposer or with any competitor. Proposer also certifies compliance with the Instructions to Proposers.

In submitting this proposal, Proposer certifies that he/she is qualified to do business in the state of Georgia as required by laws, rules, and regulations or, if allowed by statute, covenants to obtain such qualification prior to contract award.

CONTRACT EXECUTION:

The undersigned Proposer agrees, if this proposal is accepted, to enter into an Agreement with OWNER on the form included in the Documents to perform and furnish Work as specified or indicated in the Documents for the Contract Price derived from the proposal and within the times indicated herein and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Documents. Proposer accepts the terms and conditions of the Documents.

Proposal Requirements

Section 4: Cost Proposal Form

CONTRACT TIME:

Proposer hereby agrees to commence work within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date the Contract is fully executed, and the project completion date is no later than March 30, 2021. Contractor further agrees that the Owner may retain from the monies which may become due the amount of \$500.00 dollars/day (past final) for each and every day that the completion of the work may be delayed.

INSURANCE:

Proposer further agrees that proposal amount(s) stated herein includes specific consideration for the specified insurance coverages.

SURETY:

The project work will require Performance and Payment Bonds prior to the commencement of the work. Such work shall not commence until approval of such bonds has been given by CCWA.

PAYMENT TERMS:

Payment terms are net 30 days after approval of completed work and receipt of a detailed payment application and compliant with grant reporting requirements.

RETAINAGE:

Proposer accepts the provisions in the Agreement Form as to retainage.

ADDENDA:

Proposer acknowledges receipt of the following Addenda:

Proposal Requirements

Section 4: Cost Proposal Form

In compliance with the Request for Proposals, Proposer hereby proposes to provide with **Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot** in strict accordance with the Request for Proposal documents, within the time set forth therein and at the following amounts:

COST PROPOSAL FORM:

A. LUMP SUM WORK

Proposer agrees to accept as full payment for the Lump Sum Work proposed within the Request for Proposal Documents, based upon the undersigned's own estimate of quantities and costs necessary to complete installation of the items indicated on the Plan Drawings and in the Specifications to successfully complete the project. Lump Sum Price shall include taxes, overhead, and profit, the following lump sum of:

LUMP SUM WORK:	\$
Lump Sum (in words) __	

The Lump Sum Price shall be shown in both figures and words. In case of a discrepancy, the amount shown in words shall govern.

B. UNIT PRICE WORK ITEMS

Other work similar to that as described in the contract documents may be requested by CCWA to be completed by the Proposer. Unit Prices for labor and invoiced cost plus a 10% mark-up on rental equipment, materials and specialty services shall serve as a basis for pricing for any additional work requested by CCWA. An estimated quantity of hours is provided in the following "Unit Prices for Additional Work" table to establish hourly labor rates. Proposer agrees that the unit prices include all overhead and profit. Proposer further agrees that quantities are not guaranteed, and final payment will be based on actual quantities completed.

Descriptions for the Work Items are located in Specification Section 01 22 00 – Unit Prices. In the event of a discrepancy between the sum of the extended amounts and the total price, the sum of the extended amounts shall govern.

Proposal Requirements

Section 4: Cost Proposal Form

Unit Prices for Additional Work if Approved by CCWA

Work	Description	Linit of Magazina	Estimated	Hourly Rate	Extended
Item	Description	Unit of Measure	Hours	of Pay	Amount
1	Superintendent	Hour	40		
2	Foreman	Hour	80		
3	Operator	Hour	80		
4	Laborer	Hour	160		
5	Equipment Rental	Invoiced Cost Plus 10%	NA	NA	NA
6	Supplied Material	Invoiced Cost Plus 10%	NA	NA	NA
7	Specialty Services	Invoiced Cost Plus 10%	NA	NA	NA
	To	otal Extended Amo	unt		
NA = N	lon-Applicable				

Proposer agrees that all prices herein shall be good and may not be withdrawn for a period of 60 calendar days after scheduled closing time for this request for proposals.

C. UNFORESEEN CONDITION ALLOWANCES

Proposer agrees that an Unforeseen Work Elements allowance of \$26,000 will be furnished and paid for on a contingency allowance basis, for additional work approved by CCWA.

UNFORESEEN WORK ELEMENTS: \$26,000

D. TOTAL BASE PROPOSAL PRICE

	The Total Base Propos	sal Price will be used in th	ne price evaluation.	
	TOTAL BASE PROPOS	AL PRICE (Sum of Items A	, B, and C): \$	
	TOTAL BASE PROPOS	SAL PRICE WRITTEN IN W	/ORDS:	Dollars
	And	Cents.		
Sι	bmitted by:			
	Company N	ame of Proposer		
Da	ite:			

Division 2	Proposal Requirements
Section 4: Cost Proposal Form	
Submitted by:	
COMPANY NAME OF PROPOSER:	
By: (OFFICER NAME)	
SIGNATURE:	
TITLE:	
COMPANY ADDRESS:	
CITY, STATE, ZIP CODE:	
PHONE NUMBER:	
EMAIL ADDRESS:	
WEBSITE:	
DATE:	

Division 2 Section 5: Georgia Bid Bond BOND NO._____ KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that_____ herein after called the PRINCIPAL, and _____ a corporation duly organized under the laws of the State of _____ having its principal place of business at _____ in the State of _____ in the State of _____

and authorized to do business in the State of Georgia as SURETY, are held and firmly bound unto Clayton County Water Authority, as OWNER, hereinafter called the OBLIGEE, in the amount of 5 percent (5%) of the Total Proposal Amount for the payment for which we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents.

THE CONDITION OF THIS BOND IS SUCH THAT:

WHEREAS, the Principal is herewith submitting his or its Proposal for <u>Huie Green</u> <u>Infrastructure Parking Lot</u>, and said Proposal, by reference thereto, being hereby made a part hereof.

WHEREAS, the PRINCIPAL contemplates submitting or has submitted a Proposal to the OBLIGEE for the furnishing of all labor, materials (except those to be specifically furnished by the Owner), equipment, machinery, tools, apparatus, means of transportation for, and the performance of the work covered in the Proposal and the documents entitled: **Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot**.

WHEREAS, it was a condition precedent to the submission of said Proposal that a cashier's check, certified check, or Bid Bond in the amount of 5 percent (5%) of the Total

Bid Requirements

Section 5: Georgia Bid Bond

Proposal Amount be submitted with said Proposal as a guarantee that the Proposer would, if awarded the Contract, enter into a written Contract with the Owner for the performance of said Contract, within 10 consecutive calendar days after written notice having been given of the award of the Contract.

NOW THEREFORE, the conditions of this obligation are such that if the PRINCIPAL within 10 consecutive calendar days after written notice of such acceptance, enters into a written Contract with the OBLIGEE and furnishes a Performance Bond and Payment Bond in an amount equal to 100 percent (100%) of the contract amount, satisfactory to the Owner, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise the sum herein stated shall be due and payable to the OBLIGEE and the SURETY herein agrees to pay said sum immediately upon demand of the OBLIGEE in good and lawful money of the United States of America, as liquidated damages for failure thereof of said PRINCIPAL.

Signed and sealed this	day of	, 20
	PRINCIPAL	
	By	
	SURETY	
	By Attorney-In-Fact	

Division 2		Proposal Requirements
		nation / Reference Form
COMPANY NAME	OF PROPOSER:	
NUMBER OF YEAR	RS IN BUSINESS	
BUSINESS ADDRE	ESS OF COMPANY:	
		·
TELEPHONE NUM	BER:	
POINT OF CONTA	CT NAME:	
POINT OF CONTA	CT EMAIL ADDRESS:	
COMPANY TAX ID	NUMBER:	
COMPANY WEBSI	TE:	
ENTITY TYPE:		Proprietor Employee Owned Company
	-	Corporation/LLC
	_	Company Attorney
	_ 5 (5).	
NAME OF PRINCIP	PAL OFFICERS:	

August 2020

Division 2

Proposal Requirements

Section 6: Proposer Qualification Information / Reference Form

REFERENCE FORM

Proposers must provide five (5) project references as outlined below as well as three (3) trade reference for each subcontractor. Two (2) project references shall be for projects involving the installation of surface parking lots, two (2) project references shall be for projects involving Green Infrastructure elements, and one (1) project reference shall be for a project involving design and build irrigation systems. At least two of the five reference projects should have the same on-site superintendent as proposed for the Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot. Additionally, three (3) trade references shall be provided for each subcontractor participating in this project.

References:

Project Name #1

1. Two references for the installation of surface parking lot facilities during the past five years.

Project On-Site Superintendent	
Project Location	
Project Dates	
Project Budget	
Project Reference Contact Name	
Project Reference Email	
Project Reference Phone Number	
Project Name #2	
Project On-Site Superintendent	
Project On-Site Superintendent Project Location	
,	
Project Location	
Project Location Project Dates	
Project Location Project Dates Project Budget	

Proposal Requirements

Section 6: Proposer Qualification Information / Reference Form

2.	Two references	for the	installation	of Green	Infrastructure	during the	past five
	years.						

Project Name #3	
Project On-Site Superintendent	
Project Location	
Project Dates	
Project Budget	
Project Reference Contact Name	
Project Reference Email	
Project Reference Phone Number	
Project Name #4	
Project On-Site Superintendent	
Project Location	
Project Dates	
Project Budget	
Project Reference Contact Name	
Project Reference Email	
Project Reference Phone Number	

3. One reference for the design/build of landscape irrigation systems during the past five years.

Project Name #5	
Project On-Site Superintendent	
Project Location	
Project Dates	
Project Budget	
Project Reference Contact Name	
Project Reference Email	
Project Reference Phone Number	

Proposal Requirements

Section 6: Proposer Qualification Information / Reference Form

4. List references for each Subcontractor that will perform work on this project.

Subcontractor #1	
Description of Work to Perform	
Project On-Site Superintendent	
Georgia Business License Number	
# Years in Business Under this Name	
Trade Reference #1 Name/Number	
Trade Reference #2 Name/Number	
Trade Reference #3 Name/Number	
Subcontractor #2	
Description of Work to Perform	
Project On-Site Superintendent	
Georgia Business License Number	
# Years in Business Under this Name	
Trade Reference #1 Name/Number	
Trade Reference #2 Name/Number	
Trade Reference #3 Name/Number	
Subcontractor #3	
Description of Work to Perform	
Project On-Site Superintendent	
Georgia Business License Number	
# Years in Business Under this Name	
Trade Reference #1 Name/Number	
Trade Reference #2 Name/Number	
Trade Reference #3 Name/Number	

Date:

Proposal Requirements

Section 7: Contractor Affidavit and Agreement

	GEORGIA SECURITY AND IMMIGRATION COMPLIANCE ACT OF 2006
A.	Pursuant to the Georgia Security and Immigration Compliance Act of 2006, the Contractor understands and agrees that compliance with the requirements of O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 and Georgia Department of Labor Rule 300-1002 are conditions of this Agreement. The Contractor further agrees that such compliance shall be attested by the Contractor through execution of the contractor affidavit required by Georgia Department of Labor Rule 300-10-107, or a substantially similar contractor affidavit. The Contractor's fully executed affidavit is attached hereto as Exhibit and is incorporated into this Agreement by reference herein.
B.	By initialing in the appropriate line below, the Contractor certifies that the following employee-number category as identified in O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 is applicable to the Contractor:
	1 500 or more employees; 2 100 or more employees; 3 Fewer than 100 employees.
C.	The Contractor understands and agrees that, in the event the Contractor employs or contracts with any subcontractor or subcontractors in connection with this Agreement, the Contractor shall:
	 Secure from each such subcontractor an indication of the employee-number category as identified in O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 that is applicable to the subcontractor;
	2. Secure from each such subcontractor an attestation of the subcontractor's compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91 and Georgia Department of Labor Rule 300-10-102 by causing each such subcontractor to execute the subcontractor affidavit required by Georgia Department of Labor Rule 300-10-108, or a substantially similar subcontractor affidavit. The Contractor further understands and agrees that the Contractor shall require the executed subcontractor affidavit to become a part of the agreement between the Contractor and each such subcontractor. The Contractor agrees to maintain records of each subcontractor attestation required hereunder for inspection by the <u>Clayton County Water Authority</u> at any time."
Cor	ntractor
Aut	thorized Signature:
Nar	me:
Title	e:

Proposal Requirements

Section 7: Contractor Affidavit and Agreement

CONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT AND AGREEMENT

By executing this affidavit, the undersigned contractor verifies its compliance with <u>O.C.G.A.</u> <u>13-10-91</u>, stating affirmatively that the individual, firm, or corporation which is contracting with the Clayton County Water Authority has registered with, is participating in, uses, and will continue to use for the duration of the contract, the federal work authorization program - EEV/Basic Pilot Program operated by the U. S. Citizenship and Immigration Services Bureau of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, in conjunction with the Social Security Administration (SSA), commonly known as E-Verify, in accordance with the applicability provisions established in O.C.G.A. 13-10-91.

The undersigned further agrees that, in connection with the physical performance of services pursuant to this contract with the Clayton County Water Authority, the contractor will only employ or contract with subcontractor(s), who can present a similar affidavit verifying the subcontractor's compliance with <u>O.C.G.A. 13-10-91</u>. Contractor further agrees to maintain records of such compliance and provide a copy of each such verification to the Clayton County Water Authority within five days of the subcontractor(s) presenting such affidavit(s) to the contractor.

EEV / Basic Pilot Program* User Identification Number Enter four to seven digit numbers	
BY: Authorized Officer or Agent (Contractor Name)	Date
Title of Authorized Officer or Agent of Contractor	
Printed Name of Authorized Officer or Agent	
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS	
THE DAY OF 20	
Notary Public	My Commission Expires

Proposal Requirements

Section 7: Contractor Affidavit and Agreement

SUBCONTRACTOR AFFIDAVIT AND AGREEMENT

Notary Public	My Commission Expires
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME ON THIS THE 20	DAY OF
Printed Name of Authorized Officer or Agent	
Title of Authorized Officer or Agent of Subcontractor	_
BY: Authorized Officer or Agent (Subcontractor Name)	Date
EEV / Basic Pilot Program* User Identification Number Enter four to seven digit numbers	-
Authority, the subcontractor will only employ or contract can present a similar affidavit verifying the sub-subcontra 13-10-91. The undersigned further agrees that the Subco such compliance and provide a copy of each such verifical days of the sub-subcontractor(s) presenting such affidavit(s)	with sub-subcontractor(s), who actor's compliance with O.C.G.A. contractor will maintain records of ation to the Contractor within five
The undersigned further agrees that, in connection wit services pursuant to this contract with on bel	th the physical performance of half of the Clayton County Water
Clayton County Water Authority has registered with, is continue to use for the duration of the contract the feder EEV/Basic Pilot Program operated by the U. S. Citizer Bureau of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Security Administration (SSA), commonly known as Eapplicability provisions and deadlines established in O.C.G	ral work authorization program - nship and Immigration Services in conjunction with the Social -Verify, in accordance with the
	on behalf of the
By executing this affidavit, the undersigned subcontrac O.C.G.A. 13-10-91, stating affirmatively that the individuengaged in the physical performance of services under a contract of the subcontract of th	ual, firm or corporation which is

Proposal Requirements

Section 8: Fair Share Form

Percentage of fee allocated to Minorit	ty Owned Businesses:	<u>%</u>
Name of Minority Owned Business	Fee (\$)	% Share
Was the 4% Minority Owned Busines	s goal met? (circle one) Y N	
Percentage of fee allocated to Wome	n Owned Businesses:	<u>%</u>
Name of Women Owned Business	Fee (\$)	% Share
Was the 4% Women Owned Busines	s goal met? (circle one) Y N	
the percentage of fee allocated to Wo share requirements have been met. If questions must be answered. Failure efforts to engage qualified Minority O the Proposer being deemed non-resp i. Describe the process used to in solicitation lists. Include copies of	Minority Owned Businesses is greater omen Owned Businesses is greater that the fair share requirements are not med to meet the fair share goals and failure wned and Women Owned businesses consive. Include qualified minority and women businesses of the distribution of solicitations such a minority and women businesses.	an 4%, the faint, the following to documents may result in the outlinesses or the faint and the fain

Division 2

Proposal Requirements

Section 8: Fair Share Form

maximu feasible	e steps to divide the total requirements into small tasks or quantities to perm m participation of minority and women businesses. If not economical , explain why. Include backup documentation such as prices from minori men's subcontractors in excess of internal cost estimates for the same wor
minority adjustm project	e efforts to establish delivery schedules that encourage participation to and women's businesses or why the requirements of the work do not allowents to delivery schedules. Include any backup documentation including schedules and/or delivery schedules from minority and women tractors that show discrepancies with the project schedule.
Office of	services and assistance of the U.S. Small Business Administration and the Minority Business Enterprise of the U.S. Department of Commerce the sed. Show proof such as email correspondence with these agencies.
	ee, by signing below, that all sub agreements include affirmative steps and solicit minority and women businesses?

END OF SECTION

Section 1: Agreement Form

STATE OF GEORGIA COUNTY OF CLAYTON

AGREEMENT FOR SINGLE PURCHASE OF SERVICES

	ACKELINENT FOR CINCLE FORCE	ACE OF CERT	<u>olo</u>
	is Agreement made and entered into this		
between t	he CLAYTON COUNTY WATER AUTHOR	II Y (nereinaπer	"the Authority") and
	, (hereir	nafter "the Cont	ractor"), witnesseth:
	HEREAS, the Authority is contracting with below for the term specified herein;	the Contractor	for certain services
NO	W THEREFORE, the parties agree as follo	ws:	
1.	DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES: The Con	•	

- Authority in such quantities as the Authority requires for **Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot**, as described in the Request for Proposal dated August 2020.

 2. COSTS: The Authority shall nev the Contractor the prices as stipulated in the
- COSTS: The Authority shall pay the Contractor the prices as stipulated in the
 Cost Proposal Form hereto attached as full compensation relative to the
 Proposal dated _______, a copy of which is attached and
 incorporated into this contract.

Once the work commences CCWA shall make Progress Payments to the Contractor on a monthly basis. The Contractor shall submit an Application for Payment for the period ending the 15th day of the month. Each Application for Payment must be submitted to CCWA on or before the 20th day of each month in such form and manner, and with such supporting data and content as CCWA may require, including any and all USEPA requirements.

Per Georgia Code Section 13-10-2, CCWA will withhold a 10% retainage on each and every Application for Payment until such time as the value of the contract (including change orders) exceeds 50%; and as long as completion and progress of the work is acceptable to CCWA. If after reaching the 50% completion of the value of the contract, CCWA's representative has determined that the work is unsatisfactory or has fallen behind schedule, then retainage will resume at the previous level of 10%. The Contractor may submit a request for release of retainage thirty (30) days after the completion and final acceptance of the Project, and upon receipt of all necessary documentation including, but not limited to, a final affidavit and release of surety.

Section 1: Agreement Form

- 3. TIME FOR COMPLETION OF PROJECT: Contractor hereby agrees to commence work on a date to be specified in the Notice to Proceed. The total time for the Contractor to complete this project shall not exceed ninety (90) calendar days with completion by March 30, 2021. The Contractor and CCWA recognize that time is of the essence in completing this work and that there are delays, expense and difficulties involved in resolving a dispute related to a loss suffered by CCWA if the Work is not completed on time. Accordingly, instead of requiring such proof, CCWA and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty), the Contractor shall pay to CCWA, as liquidated damages the amount of \$500.00 per calendar day for each and every day or part of a day thereafter that any work as described in the Contract Documents remains incomplete and/or not accepted by CCWA.
- 4. **FEDERALLY MANDATED CERTIFICATIONS AND DISCLOSURES**: The Contractor agrees, by signing this Agreement, to comply with the Federally Mandated Certifications and Disclosures as required by the grant as described below:

a. Lobbying

- Disclosure Regarding Lobbying: Contractor hereby warrants as a condition of this Contract that if it is an organization described in Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, it will not engage in lobbying activities prohibited by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1985.
- ii. Certification Regarding Lobbying: Contractor certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that:
 - 1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid in full or will be paid, by or on behalf of Contractor, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.
 - 2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this contract, then

Section 1: Agreement Form

Contractor shall fully disclose same to the Division, and shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying", in accordance with its instructions.

- b. Drug Free Work Place: Contractor certifies that, in accordance with the provisions of O.C.G.A. § 50-24-1, et seq., a drug-free workplace will be provided to Contractor's employees during the performance of this contract; and it will secure from any subcontractor hired to work in a drug-free workplace the following written certification: "As part of any subcontracting agreement (Subcontractor's Name), certifies to Contractor that a drug-free workplace will be provided for the subcontractor's employees during the performance of this Contract pursuant to paragraph 7 of subsection (b) of Code 50-24-3."
- c. Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters:
 - i. The Contractor certifies that it and its principles:
 - 1. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, and declared ineligible or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency.
 - 2. Have not, within a three-year period preceding this contract, been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes; or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property.
 - Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity with commission of any of the above offenses.
 - 4. Have not within a three-year period preceding this contract had one or more public transactions terminated for cause or default.
 - ii. Where the Contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this certification, such Contractor shall attach an explanation to this contract.
- d. Equal Employment Opportunity: The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee for employment because of race, color, religion,

Section 1: Agreement Form

sex or national origin. The Contractor will comply with all sections of Executive Order 11246 -Equal Employment Opportunity.

- 5. **WARRANTY ON SERVICES RENDERED:** The Contractor warrants its workmanship to be free from defects for a period of two (2) years from the date of final acceptance. The Contractor further warrants that its workmanship will conform to all specifications and will perform as specified. Upon receipt of written notice of a defect in workmanship, the Contractor shall repair the defect in a timely manner at no expense to Authority.
- 6. **ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING:** The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or any portion of this Agreement, nor shall the Contractor subcontract for completed or substantially completed services purchased hereunder without the prior express written consent of the Authority. No assignment or subcontract by the Contractor, including any assignment or subcontract to which the Authority consents, shall in any way relieve the Contractor from complete and punctual performance of this Agreement, including without limitation all of the Contractor's obligations under the WARRANTY provisions of this Agreement.
- 7. <u>CONTRACTOR'S AFFIDAVITS:</u> The Contractor shall issue a "Standard Contractor's Affidavit Interim Waiver and Release Upon Payment" and a "Standard Contractor's Affidavit Unconditional Waiver and Release upon Final Payment" provided by the Authority before receiving any interim or final payment for any services performed.
- 8. THE AUTHORITY'S ASSISTANCE AND COOPERATION: During the Contractor's performance of this Agreement, the Authority may, but has no obligation to, provide assistance to, or cooperate with, the Contractor in activities that facilitate the proper performance and completion of this Agreement by the Contractor. Such assistance and cooperation may include without limitation: (i) providing engineering or other analysis or advice on correcting problems; (ii) refraining from strict enforcement of time schedule requirements under this Agreement; (iii) permitting use of test materials or documentation not performed or produced under this Agreement. Such assistance or cooperation by the Authority shall not be construed, and the Contractor agrees that it will not claim that any such assistance or cooperation operates, to relieve the Contractor from complete, proper and punctual performance of all of the Contractor's obligations under this Agreement.

Section 1: Agreement Form

- 9. WORK ON THE AUTHORITY'S DESIGNATED PREMISES: In the event that the Contractor, the Contractor's employees or agents or the Contractor's subcontractors enter the Authority's designated premises for any reason in connection with this Agreement, the Contractor and such other parties shall observe all security requirements and all plant safety, plant protection, and traffic regulations. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Authority harmless from all claims, actions, demands, loss, and causes of action, arising from injury, including death, to any person, or damage to any property, when such injury or damage results in whole or in part from the acts or omissions of the Contractor, the Contractor's employees or agents or the Contractor's subcontractors, save and except damage caused by the sole negligence of the Authority. The Contractor, and any subcontractor used by the Contractor in connection with this Agreement, shall carry Workmen's Compensation and Employees' Liability Insurance to cover the Contractor's and any subcontractor's legal liability on account of accidents to their employees. The Contractor and any subcontractor shall carry adequate Comprehensive General Liability and adequate Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering accidents to their employees. The Contractor and any subcontractor shall carry adequate Comprehensive General Liability and adequate Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering legal liability of the Contractor and any subcontractor on account of accidents arising out of the operations of the Contractor or any subcontractor and resulting in bodily injury, including death, being sustained by any person or persons, or in any damage to property. At the Authority's request, the Contractor shall furnish to the Authority certificates from the Contractor's insurers showing such coverage in effect and agreeing to give the Authority ten (10) days' prior written notice of cancellation of the coverage.
- 10. **RISK MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS:** The Contractor shall abide by the Authority's applicable Risk Management Requirements attached to this Agreement as Exhibit A and hereby incorporated into this Agreement.

11. TERMINATION FOR DEFAULT:

(a) The Authority may, subject to the provisions of subparagraph (c) below, by written notice of default to the Contractor, terminate the whole or any part of this Agreement in any one of the following circumstances: (i) if the Contractor fails to perform this Agreement within the time specified herein or any extension thereof; or (ii) if the Contractor fails to perform any of the other provisions of this Agreement, or so fails to make

Section 1: Agreement Form

progress as to endanger performance of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, and does not cure such failure within a period of ten (10) days or longer period (as the Authority may authorize in writing) after receipt of notice from the Authority specifying such failure.

- (b) In the event the Authority terminates this Agreement in whole or in part as provided in subparagraph (a) above, the Authority may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as the Authority may deem appropriate, services similar to those so terminated, and the Contractor shall be liable to the Authority for any excess costs for the same, including without limitation all costs and expenses of the type specified in the "WARRANTY" paragraph of this Agreement Document; provided, that the Contractor shall continue the performance of this Agreement to the extent not terminated hereunder.
- (c) Except with respect to defaults of subcontractors, the Contractor shall not be liable for any excess costs if the failure to perform this Agreement arises out of causes beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor Such causes may include, but are not limited to, acts of God, or of the public enemy, acts of the Government in either its sovereign or contractual capacity, fires, flood, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes, freight embargoes, and unusually severe weather, but in every case the failure to perform must be beyond the control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor.

If the failure to perform is caused by the default of a subcontractor, and if such default arises out of causes beyond the control of both the Contractor and the subcontractor, and without the fault or negligence of either of them, the Contractor shall not be liable for any excess costs for failure to perform, unless the services to be furnished by the subcontractor were obtainable from other sources in sufficient time to permit the Contractor to meet the required delivery schedule. The term "subcontractor" shall mean a subcontractor at any tier.

(d) If, after notice of termination of this Agreement under the provisions of this paragraph, it is determined for any reason that the Contractor was not in default under the provisions above, or that the default was excusable under the provisions of this paragraph, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as if the notice of termination had been issued pursuant to the "Termination for Convenience" paragraph of this Agreement Document.

Section 1: Agreement Form

- (e) The rights and remedies of the Authority provided in this paragraph shall not be exclusive and are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this Agreement.
- 12. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE: The Authority may at any time by written notice terminate all or any part of this Agreement for the Authority's convenience. If this Agreement is terminated, in whole or in part, for the Authority's convenience, the Contractor shall be paid an amount, to be mutually agreed upon, which shall be adequate to cover the actual reasonable cost paid by the Contractor for the actual labor reasonably used by the Contractor to perform the work under this Agreement to the effective date of termination, plus a reasonable profit thereon; provided that no amount shall be paid to the Contractor for (i) any anticipatory profits related to work under this Agreement not yet performed, or (ii) costs incurred due to the Contractor's failure to terminate work as ordered on the effective date of termination. In no event shall the total amount paid under the provisions of this paragraph exceed the prices set forth in this Agreement for the work terminated.
- 13. <u>DISPUTES:</u> Pending resolution of any dispute hereunder, the Contractor shall proceed diligently with the performance of work in accordance with the Authority's direction.
- 14. **NOTICES:** All notices required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be deemed to be properly given if delivered in writing personally or sent by United States certified or registered mail addressed to the Contractor or the Authority, as the case may be, with postage thereon fully prepaid. The effective time of notice shall be at the time of mailing.
- 15. **ATTORNEYS' FEES:** The Contractor shall pay reasonable attorneys' fees to the Authority should the Authority be required to incur attorneys' fees in enforcing the provisions of this Agreement or in the collection of any monies herein required to be paid by the Contractor to the Authority.

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE]

Division 3	Contract Forms
Section 1: Agreement Form	
IN WITNESS WHEREOF this day parties have hereunto set their seals the day a	of, 20, said and year above first written.
Executed on behalf of:	
CLAYTON COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY	CONTRACTOR
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title: General Manager	Title:
Attest:	Attest:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:
[Corporate Seal]	[Corporate Seal]

Section 1: Agreement Form

EXHIBIT A

RISK MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS

The Contractor will provide minimum insurance coverage and limits as per the following: The Contractor will file with the Authority Certificates of Insurance, certifying the required insurance coverage and stating that each policy has been endorsed to provide thirty (30) day notice to the Authority in the event that coverage is cancelled, non-renewed, or the types of coverage or limits of liability are reduced below those required. All bonds and insurance coverage must be placed with an insurance company approved by the Authority's Management, admitted to do business in the State of Georgia, and rated Secure ("B+" or better) by A.M. Best Company in the latest edition of Property and Casualty Ratings, or rated by Standard & Poors Insurance Ratings, latest edition as Secure ("BBB" or better). Worker's Compensation self-insurance for individual Contractors must be approved by the Worker's Compensation Board, State of Georgia and/or Self-Insurance pools approved by the Insurance Commissioner, State of Georgia.

CONTRACTS FOR UP TO \$50,000

Worker's Compensation – Worker's Compensation coverage on a statutory basis for the State of Georgia with an Employer's Liability limit of \$100,000 each Accident, Disease \$100,000 each employee, \$500,000 Disease policy limit.

Automobile Liability – Automobile liability coverage for owned, hired and non-owned vehicles in the amount of \$500,000 combined single limit.

Commercial General Liability – Coverage to be provided on "occurrence" not "claims made" basis. The coverage is to include Contractual liability, Per Project Limit of Liability, losses caused by Explosion, Collapse and Underground ("xcu") perils, the "Clayton County Water Authority" is to be added as an Additional Insured and Products and Completed Operations coverage is to be maintained for three (3) years following completion of work.

CONTRACTS FOR MORE THAN \$50,000

Worker's Compensation – Worker's Compensation coverage on a statutory basis for the State of Georgia with an Employer's Liability limit of \$1,000,000. The increased Employer's Liability limit may be provided by an Umbrella or Excess Liability policy.

Automobile Liability - Automobile liability coverage for owned, hired and non-owned vehicles in the amount of \$1,000,000 combined single limit.

Commercial General Liability – Coverage to be provided on "occurrence" not "claims made" basis. The coverage is to include Contractual liability, Per Project Limit of Liability, losses caused by Explosion, Collapse and Underground ("xcu") perils, the "Clayton County Water Authority" is to be added as an Additional Insured and Products and Completed Operations coverage is to be maintained for three (3) years following completion of work.

Section 1: Agreement Form

RISK MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS (Cont'd)

CONTRACTS FOR UP TO \$50,000

CONTRACTS FOR MORE THAN \$50,000

LIMITS OF LIABILITY:

\$1,000,000 Per Occurrence

\$1,000,000 Personal and Advertising

\$50,000 Fire Damage*

\$5,000 Medical Payments*

\$1,000,000 General Aggregate

\$1,000,000 Products/Completed Operations per

Occurrence and Aggregate

Owner's Protective Liability – The Authority's Management may, in its discretion, require Owner's Protective Liability in some situations.

Umbrella and/or Excess Liability – The umbrella or Excess Liability Policy may be used to combine with underlying policies to obtain the limits required. The Management of the Authority may elect to require higher limits.

Owner's Protective Liability – The Authority's Management may, in its discretion, require Owner's Protective Liability in some situations.

END OF SECTION

^{*}These are automatic minimums

Section 2: Performance Bond

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESI	E PRESENTS THAT	
	_ (as CONTRACTOR, h	ereinafter referred to as the
"Principal"), and		(as SURETY COMPANY),
hereinafter referred to as the "CON		
unto the Clayton County Water	Authority (as OWNER,	hereinafter referred to as
"CCWA"), for the use and benefit of	f any "Claimant" as here	inafter defined in the sum of
	Dollars (\$) lawful money
of the United States of America,		
Contractor's Surety bind themselve	es, their heirs, executors	, administrators, successors
and assigns, jointly and severally, fi	rmly by these presents.	
WHEREAS, the Principal ha	s entered, or is about to	enter, into a certain written
agreement with CCWA, dated	,	which is incorporated herein
by reference in its entirety (here	inafter referred to as	the "CONTRACT"), for the
construction of a project known as I	<u> Huie Green Infrastructu</u>	i <mark>re Parking Lot</mark> , (hereinafter
referred to as "the PROJECT").		

NOW THEREFORE, the conditions of this obligation are as follows:

1. That if the Principal shall fully and completely perform each and all of the terms, provisions and requirements of the Contract, including and during the period of any warranties or guarantees required thereunder, and all modifications, amendments, changes, deletions, additions, and alterations thereto that may hereafter be made; and if the Principal and the Contractor's Surety shall indemnify and hold harmless CCWA from any and all losses, liability and damages, claims, judgments, liens, costs and fees of every description, including but not limited to, any damages for delay, which CCWA may incur, sustain or suffer by reason of the failure or default on the part of the Principal in the performance of any and all of the terms, provisions and requirements of the Contract, including all modifications, amendments, changes, deletions, additions, and alterations thereto and any warranties or guarantees required thereunder, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise to remain in full force and effect;

Section 2: Performance Bond

- 2. In the event of a failure of performance of the Contract by the Principal, which shall include, but not be limited to, any breach of default of the Contract;
 - a. The Contractor's Surety shall commence performance of its obligations and undertakings under this Bond no later than thirty (30) days after written notice from CCWA to the Contractor's Surety;
 - b. The means, method or procedure by which the Contractor's Surety undertakes to perform its obligations under this Bond shall be subject to the advance written approval of CCWA.

The Contractor's Surety hereby waives notice of any and all modifications, omissions, additions, changes and advance payments or deferred payments in or about the Contract, and agrees that the obligations undertaken by this Bond shall not be impaired in any manner by reason of any such modifications, omissions, additions, changes, and advance payments or deferred payments. The Parties further expressly agree that any action on this Bond may be brought within the time allowed by Georgia law for suit on contracts under seal.

SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE

[Corporate Seal]

[Corporate Seal]

Division 3	Contract Forms

Section 2: Performance Bond IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the principal and Contractor's Surety have hereunto affixed their corporate seals and caused this obligation to be signed by their duly authorized officers or attorneys-in-fact, this _____ day of _____ 20___. (Name of Principal) (Name of Contractor's Surety) By: By: Name Printed: Name Printed: Title: Title: Attest: Attest: Name: Name: Date: Date:

(ATTACH SURETY'S POWER OF ATTORNEY)

END OF SECTION

Section 3: Payment Bond

	KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS THAT	
(as	CONTRACTOR, hereinafter referred to as the "Principal"),	and
	(as SURETY COMPANY, hereinafter referred to a	as the
"CO	NTRACTOR'S SURETY"), are held and firmly bound unto the Clayton County \	Nater
Auth	nority (as OWNER, hereinafter referred to as "CCWA"), for the use and benefit o	of any
"Clai	imant" as hereinafter defined in the sum of	
	Dollars (\$), lawful mor	ney of
	Jnited States of America, for the payment of which the Principal and the Contra	
Sure	ety bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and as	signs,
joint	ly and severally, firmly by these presents.	
	WHEREAS, the Principal has entered, or is about to enter, into a certain w	/ritten
agre	ement with CCWA, dated, which is incorporated here	in by
refe	rence in its entirety (hereinafter referred to as the "CONTRACT"), for the constru	uction
of a	project known as <u>Huie Green Infrastructure Parking Lot</u> (hereinafter referred	to as
"the	PROJECT").	

NOW THEREFORE, the condition of this obligation is such, that if the Principal shall promptly make payment to any Claimant, as hereinafter defined, for all labor, services and materials used or reasonably required for use in the performance of the Contract, then this obligation shall be void; otherwise to remain in full force and effect.

A "Claimant" shall be defined herein as any subcontractor, person, party, partnership, corporation or other entity furnishing labor, services or materials used or reasonably required for use in the performance of the Contract, without regard to whether such labor, services or materials were sold, leased or rented, and without regard to whether such Claimant is or is not in privity of the Contract with the Principal or any subcontractor performing work on the Project.

In the event of any claim made by the Claimant against CCWA, or the filing of a Lien against the property of CCWA affected by the Contract, the Contractor's Surety shall either settle or resolve the Claim and shall remove any such Lien by bond or otherwise as provided in the Contract.

<u>Division 3</u> Contract Forms

Section 3: Payment Bond

The Parties further expressly agree that any action on this Bond may be brought within the time allowed by Georgia law for suit on contracts under seal.

	TINESS WHEREOF, the Post corporate seals and cause	•	•	
	officers on this day	_		
1)	Name of Principal)	(Name	of Contractor's Surety)	
By: Name Printed: Title:		Title		
Attest: Name: Date:		Name:		
	[Corporate Seal]		[Corporate Seal]	

(ATTACH SURETY'S POWER OF ATTORNEY)

END OF SECTION

Division 3	Contract Forms
Section 4: Non-Collusion Certificate	
STATE OF, CO	DUNTY OF
Personally appeared before the undersigned	ed officer duly authorized by law to administer
Oathsdanage	and any that they are all the officers arents
	and say that they are all the officers, agents, or represented
	th the Clayton County Water Authority on the Ire Parking Lot , and that said
prevented or attempted to prevent by a proposing; or by any means whatsoever	th any persons, officers, agents or employees any means whatsoever competition in such prevented or endeavored to prevent anyone nduced or attempted to induce another to
ATTEST:	By: Proposer
By: Name	By: Name
Title:	Title:
Sworn to and subscribed before me this	day of, 20
Notary Public:	
My Commission expires:	

END OF SECTION

ATTACHMENT A

Technical Specifications

To access, click <u>HERE</u>

ATTACHMENT B

Construction Drawings

To access, click <u>HERE</u>

ATTACHMENT C

Affidavit of Interim Waiver and Release Upon Payment

STATE OF GEORGIA COUNTY OF CLAYTON

INTERIM WAIVER AND RELEASE UPON PAYMENT

The undersigned mechanic and/or materialman has County Water Authority to furnish:	been employed by the Clayton
	[describe materials
and/or labor]; for the construction of improvements know	vn as:
	_[title of the project or building];
which is located in the City of and is owned by the Clayton County Water Authority at	
and more particularly described by the following metes district, or block and lot number:	and bounds description, land lot
See Attachment: ☐ yes ☐	l no
Upon the receipt of the sum of: \$	

the mechanic and/or materialman waives and releases any and all liens or claims of liens it has upon the foregoing described property through the date signed below and excepting those rights and liens that the mechanic and/or materialman might have in any retained amounts, on account of labor or materials, or both, furnished by the undersigned to or on account of said contractor for said building or premises.

NOTICE: WHEN YOU EXECUTE AND SUBMIT THIS DOCUMENT, YOU SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN PAID IN FULL THE AMOUNT STATED ABOVE, EVEN IF YOU HAVE NOT ACTUALLY RECEIVED SUCH PAYMENT, 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE STATED ABOVE UNLESS YOU FILE EITHER AN AFFIDAVIT OF NONPAYMENT OR A CLAIM OF LIEN PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF SUCH 60 DAY PERIOD.

	_(L.S.)
(Signature of Deponent)	
(Printed/Typed Name and Title)	_
Deponent, individually, and as duly authoriz of Contractor	ed agent and duly elected and acting office
(Company Name)	_
County, the Deponent, who, being personal	, a Notary Public in and for said State and lly known to the undersigned and being duly the within and foregoing statements are true, 20
Notary Public	
Commission Expiration Date:	
(NOTARY SEAL)	
(Witness)	(Address)

ATTACHMENT D

Affidavit of Waiver and Release Upon Final Payment

STATE OF GEORGIA COUNTY OF CLAYTON

WAIVER AND RELEASE UPON FINAL PAYMENT

The undersigned mechanic and/or materialman has been employed by the Clayton County Water Authority to furnish:
and/or labor]; for the construction of improvements known as:
and/or labor], for the construction of improvements known as:
[title of the project or building];
which is owned by the Clayton County Water Authority at the following address:
and more particularly described by the following metes and bounds description, land lot district, or block and lot number:
See Attachment: □ yes □ no
Upon the receipt of the sum of: \$;
the mechanic and/or materialman waives and releases any and all liens or claims of liens or any right against any labor and/or material bond it has upon the foregoing described property.
THE MECHANIC AND/OR MATERIALMAN WAIVES AND RELEASES ANY AND ALL

LIENS OR CLAIMS OF LIENS IT HAS UPON THE FOREGOING DESCRIBED PROPERTY OR ANY RIGHTS AGAINST ANY LABOR AND/OR MATERIAL BOND ON

ACCOUNT OF LABOR OR MATERIALS, OR BOTH, FURNISHED BY THE UNDERSIGNED TO OR ON ACCOUNT OF SAID CONTRACTOR FOR SAID PROPERTY.

NOTICE: WHEN YOU EXECUTE AND SUBMIT THIS DOCUMENT, YOU SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN PAID IN FULL THE AMOUNT STATED ABOVE, EVEN IF YOU HAVE NOT ACTUALLY RECEIVED SUCH PAYMENT, 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE STATED ABOVE UNLESS YOU FILE EITHER AN AFFIDAVIT OF NONPAYMENT OR A CLAIM OF LIEN PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF SUCH 60 DAY PERIOD.

PERSONALLY APPEARED BEFORE ME, the undersigned attesting officer, duly authorized by law to administer oaths (the "Deponent"), who being duly sworn according to law, deposes and says on oath:

- 1. That Deponent is the duly authorized agent and duly elected and acting officer of ______ (the "Contractor"), and is duly authorized to execute this Final Contractor's Affidavit, Lien Waiver and Indemnification (this "Affidavit") in a representative capacity on behalf of Contractor, as well as in Deponent's individual capacity, and Deponent has made diligent inquiry into and is personally familiar with and has full knowledge of all facts set forth herein.
- 2. That Contractor acted as the sole general contractor in charge of and directly responsible for the building and construction of all improvements (the "Work") located as reflected above (the "Property"), all of which Work was performed pursuant to the terms of that certain agreement dated _______ (the "Agreement") by and between Contractor and the Clayton County Water Authority as the owner or agent of the owner of the Property (the "Owner"). The Work includes, without limitation, all Work under or related to the Agreement and all change orders to the Agreement, and all supplemental contracts and subcontracts, whether oral or written, for any extra, additional or replacement labor or materials. Contractor is, and performed the Work as, an independent general contractor and Contractor is not an agent of Owner, and all of the Work was furnished and performed at the instance of Contractor as general contractor.

- **3.** That the Work has been fully and finally completed in strict accordance with the terms of the Agreement, and Contractor has at all times since the commencement of the Work been in direct charge of all aspects of the Work, and Contractor has obtained a current valid permanent certificate of occupancy for the Property and the Work, and the Work has been completed within the boundary lines of the Property.
- **4.** Upon receipt of the sum reflected above, Contractor acknowledges that Owner has paid in full to Contractor the full contract price under the Agreement (the "Contract Price"), which Contract Price includes, without limitation, all amounts and bills for all labor, materials, fixtures and supplies of any type whatsoever used in the Work. Upon receipt of these monies, all contractors, subcontractors, subcontractors of subcontractors, materialmen, suppliers and laborers will be paid in full the agreed price or reasonable value for all materials and supplies ordered, used or furnished and services and labor rendered in connection with or as a part of the Work, and none of such parties have or will have any claim, demand or lien against the Property, and all of the amounts paid by Owner to Contractor under the Agreement have been and will be used to pay for labor or materials used in the Work when no liens or claims of lien were filed or outstanding. There are no disputes regarding the Agreement or any other contracts or subcontracts with respect to the Work or the Property, and, except for bills associated with these final monies, there are no amounts due or unpaid bills of any nature, either for labor or services related to the Work or the Property or any materials which have been or may have been placed upon, or applied or delivered to the Property, and Contractor does hereby unconditionally agree to hold harmless and indemnify Owner from and against all claims for mechanic's or materialman's liens or claims of lien, including, without limitation, any attempted foreclosure thereof, which in any way arise out of or are related to the Work or the Property, including, without limitation, any attorney's fees incurred in connection therewith.
- **5.** That Contractor does hereby for itself, and its employees, suppliers, subcontractors, mechanics and materialmen and all other persons acting for, through, or under Contractor, waive, remise, relinquish and release all right to file or to have filed or to maintain any materialman's or mechanic's lien or liens or claim or claims against the Property or arising out of or related to the Work. This Affidavit is executed and given in favor of and for the benefit of, and may be relied upon by, Owner and each and every party legally or equitably, now or hereafter, owning or holding any interest in the Property.

Code of Georgia Annotated Section 44-14-	tement made under the provisions of Official 361.2 and is made for the purpose of inducing the Contract Price pursuant to the terms of the
	(L.S.)
(Signature of Deponent)	
(Printed/Typed Name and Title)	
Deponent, individually, and as duly authori of Contractor	zed agent and duly elected and acting officer
(Company Name)	
County, the Deponent, who, being persona	E, a Notary Public in and for said State and ally known to the undersigned and being duly the within and foregoing statements are true, 20
Notary Public	
Commission Expiration Date:	
(NOTARY SEAL)	
(Witness)	(Address)

ATTACHMENT E

Vendor Form



COVER SHEET

Effective: May 1, 2019

FOR

VENDOR INFORMATION FORM

The enclosed Vendor Information Form is used by the Clayton County Water Authority (CCWA) for adding vendors to its financial database system that are awarded procurement or service work. This form has two parts. Part 1 is designed to obtain general company information. Completion of this part is required to successfully add the vendors to CCWA's financial database system. Part 2 is intended for information gathering purposes only. While information requested on Part 2 is optional to the vendors, it will help the CCWA obtain business ownership classification description from its vendors.

Product(s) / **Service(s) Provided:** Select a NIGP code from the drop-down menu. If the code is unknown, you can search it by clicking the link provided on the form. Go to page 5. At the same time, press CTRL-F. This will open a small FIND box on your screen. In the box, type the key word that best describes your goods or services and click NEXT until you find the best fit. **Write down the 5 digit code number and go to the drop-down menu of this Form to select the code.**

For the purposes of executing this document, the following definitions apply:

- > Small Local Business Enterprise (SLBE) is one that is at least 51% owned by one or more of the applicant individuals identified and a citizen or lawfully admitted permanent resident of the United States. Independently owned and operated with average annual gross receipts for the previous three years not exceeding (1) Construction Firms- \$18,250,000 (2) Professional Services Firms \$5,500,000, Architectural Firms \$3,750,000, Engineering Firms- \$7,500,000 and Goods & Services less than 250 employees. Locally based, meaning located and operating in Clayton County or the ten (10) counties of Cherokee, Cobb, DeKalb, Douglas, Fayette, Fulton, Gwinnett, Henry, Rockdale and Spalding for at least one year prior to submitting application for certification.
- ➤ A Woman Business Enterprise (WBE) is one that is at least 51% owned by a Female, who also controls and operates the business, and is a permanent resident of the State of Georgia. The business must have a permanent, functioning office within the State of Georgia and must be lawfully licensed within the relevant jurisdiction.
- A Minority Business Enterprise (MBE) is one that is at least 51% owned by one of the minority groups identified below, who also control and operate the business, and are permanent residents of the State of Georgia. The business must have a permanent, functioning office within the State of Georgia and must be lawfully licensed within the relevant jurisdiction.

Minority Groups:

Hispanic American

> African American

Native American

Asian American

Pacific Islander

➤ A Disabled Citizen Enterprise (DCE) of the US refers to a business that is at least 51% owned by one or more disabled US citizens, who also control and operate the business, and are permanent residents of the State of Georgia. The business must have a permanent, functioning office within the State of Georgia, and must be lawfully licensed within the relevant jurisdiction.

Vendor Information Forms should be submitted to the Procurement Department.

For questions related to the verification of certifications, please email ccwa_slbe_program@ccwa.us

VENDOR INFORMATION FORM

	PART 1
Vendor Name:	
Phone Number:	Fax #:
E-Mail Address:	
Mailing Address:	
Pay to Address:	
☐ Same as above	
_	noney between banks electronically. If you are interested in ACH payments, please complete all of the attach a copy of a voided check confirming your account information:
Bank Name:	
Routing No.:	Account No.:
Account Name: Remittance to Email .	$\Delta ddrass$.
	es should send all invoices to: CCWA_Accounts_Payable@ccwa.us
□ P.	ndividual/Sole Proprietor
·	Γax Identification Number (TIN):
Payment Terms:	□ NET 30 DAYS □ Other:
	VICES PROVIDED: GP Code(s)
	For help finding NIGP Codes, click here: NIGP Code Listing
R	equired: A signed W-9 form must be submitted with this form.
	PART 2
(For informat	ion gathering purposes only. You are not required to complete PART 2).
COMPANY'S	OWNERSHIP CLASSIFICATION - See Cover Sheet for additional information.
To partipate in	the Small Local Business Program, please complete the following section:
SLBE Are yo	ou certified?
County of Primary	y Business Located:
If you are certified	d as one of the following classifications, please check the appropriate box: WBE
* IF MBE , PLEAS CHOOSE ONE ONL	— — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —
Etc.) may be chosen.	Company" has been chosen, no other designation (Hispanic American, African American, This option will serve as your company's classification. Information Forms should be submitted to ccwa slbe program@ccwa.us.

If your company's ownership is certified as SLBE, WBE, MBE, or DCE with the State of Georgia (GDOT) Certification Program, Clayton County, DeKalb County or with the City of Atlanta, please submit a copy of your business certification (including your phone, fax, and email address) to: ccwa_slbe_program@ccwa.us Certification from any other entity is not needed at this time.

ATTACHMENT F

W-9 Form



Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and Certification

▶ Go to www.irs.gov/FormW9 for instructions and the latest information.

Give Form to the requester. Do not send to the IRS.

	Name (as shown on your income tax return). Name	ne is required on this line; do	not leave this line blank.								
	2 Business name/disregarded entity name, if differ	ent from above									_
on page 3.			e is entered on line 1. Ch	eck only one		certa		s, not	les apply individu e 3):		
e.	single-member LLC	•	•			Exem	npt payee	code	(if any)		
ty Stick	Limited liability company. Enter the tax classif	ication (C=C corporation, S=	S corporation, P=Partne	rship) ▶							
Print or type. Specific Instructions on page	Note: Check the appropriate box in the line a LLC if the LLC is classified as a single-member another LLC that is not disregarded from the is disregarded from the owner should check the line is disregarded.	er LLC that is disregarded fro owner for U.S. federal tax pu	m the owner unless the or rposes. Otherwise, a sing	owner of the gle-member	LLC is	code	nption fro e (if any)	om FA	TCA rep	orting	
čifi	Other (see instructions)	ie appropriate box for the ta	Classification of its own	ici.		(Applie	s to account	ts mainta	ained outsid	e the U.S.)	,
Spe	5 Address (number, street, and apt. or suite no.) Se	ee instructions.		Requester'	s name						—
See							(.)		,		
S	6 City, state, and ZIP code										
	7 List account number(s) here (optional)										_
Pai	rt I Taxpayer Identification Nun	nber (TIN)									_
	your TIN in the appropriate box. The TIN provi				ocial se	ecurity	number		,		
	up withholding. For individuals, this is generally			or a							\neg
	ent alien, sole proprietor, or disregarded entity, es, it is your employer identification number (El			et a		-		-			
TIN, la		v). Il you do not navo a n	amber, see new to ge	or						-	_
Note: If the account is in more than one name, see the instructions for line 1. Also see What Name and Employer				r identification number							
Numb	ber To Give the Requester for guidelines on wh	ose number to enter.								П	
						-					
Par	rt II Certification										_
Unde	er penalties of perjury, I certify that:										_
1. The 2. I ar Sei	e number shown on this form is my correct tax m not subject to backup withholding because: ervice (IRS) that I am subject to backup withhold longer subject to backup withholding; and	(a) I am exempt from bac	kup withholding, or (b) I have not	been	notified	d by the	Inter			n
3. I ar	m a U.S. citizen or other U.S. person (defined b	elow); and									

- 4. The FATCA code(s) entered on this form (if any) indicating that I am exempt from FATCA reporting is correct.

Certification instructions. You must cross out item 2 above if you have been notified by the IRS that you are currently subject to backup withholding because you have failed to report all interest and dividends on your tax return. For real estate transactions, item 2 does not apply. For mortgage interest paid

acquisition	or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, contributions to an individual interest and dividends, you are not required to sign the certification, but you must provide	retirement arrangement (IRA), and generally, payments
Sign Here	Signature of U.S. person ▶	Date ▶

General Instructions

Section references are to the Internal Revenue Code unless otherwise

Future developments. For the latest information about developments related to Form W-9 and its instructions, such as legislation enacted after they were published, go to www.irs.gov/FormW9.

Purpose of Form

An individual or entity (Form W-9 requester) who is required to file an information return with the IRS must obtain your correct taxpayer identification number (TIN) which may be your social security number (SSN), individual taxpayer identification number (ITIN), adoption taxpayer identification number (ATIN), or employer identification number (EIN), to report on an information return the amount paid to you, or other amount reportable on an information return. Examples of information returns include, but are not limited to, the following.

• Form 1099-INT (interest earned or paid)

- Form 1099-DIV (dividends, including those from stocks or mutual funds)
- Form 1099-MISC (various types of income, prizes, awards, or gross proceeds)
- Form 1099-B (stock or mutual fund sales and certain other transactions by brokers)
- Form 1099-S (proceeds from real estate transactions)
- Form 1099-K (merchant card and third party network transactions)
- Form 1098 (home mortgage interest), 1098-E (student loan interest), 1098-T (tuition)
- Form 1099-C (canceled debt)
- Form 1099-A (acquisition or abandonment of secured property)

Use Form W-9 only if you are a U.S. person (including a resident alien), to provide your correct TIN.

If you do not return Form W-9 to the requester with a TIN, you might be subject to backup withholding. See What is backup withholding,

By signing the filled-out form, you:

- 1. Certify that the TIN you are giving is correct (or you are waiting for a number to be issued),
 - 2. Certify that you are not subject to backup withholding, or
- 3. Claim exemption from backup withholding if you are a U.S. exempt payee. If applicable, you are also certifying that as a U.S. person, your allocable share of any partnership income from a U.S. trade or business is not subject to the withholding tax on foreign partners' share of effectively connected income, and
- 4. Certify that FATCA code(s) entered on this form (if any) indicating that you are exempt from the FATCA reporting, is correct. See *What is FATCA reporting*, later, for further information.

Note: If you are a U.S. person and a requester gives you a form other than Form W-9 to request your TIN, you must use the requester's form if it is substantially similar to this Form W-9.

Definition of a U.S. person. For federal tax purposes, you are considered a U.S. person if you are:

- An individual who is a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien;
- A partnership, corporation, company, or association created or organized in the United States or under the laws of the United States;
- · An estate (other than a foreign estate); or
- A domestic trust (as defined in Regulations section 301.7701-7).

Special rules for partnerships. Partnerships that conduct a trade or business in the United States are generally required to pay a withholding tax under section 1446 on any foreign partners' share of effectively connected taxable income from such business. Further, in certain cases where a Form W-9 has not been received, the rules under section 1446 require a partnership to presume that a partner is a foreign person, and pay the section 1446 withholding tax. Therefore, if you are a U.S. person that is a partner in a partnership conducting a trade or business in the United States, provide Form W-9 to the partnership to establish your U.S. status and avoid section 1446 withholding on your share of partnership income.

In the cases below, the following person must give Form W-9 to the partnership for purposes of establishing its U.S. status and avoiding withholding on its allocable share of net income from the partnership conducting a trade or business in the United States.

- In the case of a disregarded entity with a U.S. owner, the U.S. owner of the disregarded entity and not the entity;
- In the case of a grantor trust with a U.S. grantor or other U.S. owner, generally, the U.S. grantor or other U.S. owner of the grantor trust and not the trust; and
- In the case of a U.S. trust (other than a grantor trust), the U.S. trust (other than a grantor trust) and not the beneficiaries of the trust.

Foreign person. If you are a foreign person or the U.S. branch of a foreign bank that has elected to be treated as a U.S. person, do not use Form W-9. Instead, use the appropriate Form W-8 or Form 8233 (see Pub. 515, Withholding of Tax on Nonresident Aliens and Foreign Entities).

Nonresident alien who becomes a resident alien. Generally, only a nonresident alien individual may use the terms of a tax treaty to reduce or eliminate U.S. tax on certain types of income. However, most tax treaties contain a provision known as a "saving clause." Exceptions specified in the saving clause may permit an exemption from tax to continue for certain types of income even after the payee has otherwise become a U.S. resident alien for tax purposes.

If you are a U.S. resident alien who is relying on an exception contained in the saving clause of a tax treaty to claim an exemption from U.S. tax on certain types of income, you must attach a statement to Form W-9 that specifies the following five items.

- 1. The treaty country. Generally, this must be the same treaty under which you claimed exemption from tax as a nonresident alien.
 - 2. The treaty article addressing the income.
- 3. The article number (or location) in the tax treaty that contains the saving clause and its exceptions.
- 4. The type and amount of income that qualifies for the exemption from tax.
- 5. Sufficient facts to justify the exemption from tax under the terms of the treaty article.

Example. Article 20 of the U.S.-China income tax treaty allows an exemption from tax for scholarship income received by a Chinese student temporarily present in the United States. Under U.S. law, this student will become a resident alien for tax purposes if his or her stay in the United States exceeds 5 calendar years. However, paragraph 2 of the first Protocol to the U.S.-China treaty (dated April 30, 1984) allows the provisions of Article 20 to continue to apply even after the Chinese student becomes a resident alien of the United States. A Chinese student who qualifies for this exception (under paragraph 2 of the first protocol) and is relying on this exception to claim an exemption from tax on his or her scholarship or fellowship income would attach to Form W-9 a statement that includes the information described above to support that exemption.

If you are a nonresident alien or a foreign entity, give the requester the appropriate completed Form W-8 or Form 8233.

Backup Withholding

What is backup withholding? Persons making certain payments to you must under certain conditions withhold and pay to the IRS 24% of such payments. This is called "backup withholding." Payments that may be subject to backup withholding include interest, tax-exempt interest, dividends, broker and barter exchange transactions, rents, royalties, nonemployee pay, payments made in settlement of payment card and third party network transactions, and certain payments from fishing boat operators. Real estate transactions are not subject to backup withholding.

You will not be subject to backup withholding on payments you receive if you give the requester your correct TIN, make the proper certifications, and report all your taxable interest and dividends on your tax return.

Payments you receive will be subject to backup withholding if:

- 1. You do not furnish your TIN to the requester,
- 2. You do not certify your TIN when required (see the instructions for Part II for details),
 - 3. The IRS tells the requester that you furnished an incorrect TIN,
- 4. The IRS tells you that you are subject to backup withholding because you did not report all your interest and dividends on your tax return (for reportable interest and dividends only), or
- 5. You do not certify to the requester that you are not subject to backup withholding under 4 above (for reportable interest and dividend accounts opened after 1983 only).

Certain payees and payments are exempt from backup withholding. See *Exempt payee code*, later, and the separate Instructions for the Requester of Form W-9 for more information.

Also see Special rules for partnerships, earlier.

What is FATCA Reporting?

The Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) requires a participating foreign financial institution to report all United States account holders that are specified United States persons. Certain payees are exempt from FATCA reporting. See *Exemption from FATCA reporting code*, later, and the Instructions for the Requester of Form W-9 for more information.

Updating Your Information

You must provide updated information to any person to whom you claimed to be an exempt payee if you are no longer an exempt payee and anticipate receiving reportable payments in the future from this person. For example, you may need to provide updated information if you are a C corporation that elects to be an S corporation, or if you no longer are tax exempt. In addition, you must furnish a new Form W-9 if the name or TIN changes for the account; for example, if the grantor of a grantor trust dies.

Penalties

Failure to furnish TIN. If you fail to furnish your correct TIN to a requester, you are subject to a penalty of \$50 for each such failure unless your failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect.

Civil penalty for false information with respect to withholding. If you make a false statement with no reasonable basis that results in no backup withholding, you are subject to a \$500 penalty.

Criminal penalty for falsifying information. Willfully falsifying certifications or affirmations may subject you to criminal penalties including fines and/or imprisonment.

Misuse of TINs. If the requester discloses or uses TINs in violation of federal law, the requester may be subject to civil and criminal penalties.

Specific Instructions

Line 1

You must enter one of the following on this line; **do not** leave this line blank. The name should match the name on your tax return.

If this Form W-9 is for a joint account (other than an account maintained by a foreign financial institution (FFI)), list first, and then circle, the name of the person or entity whose number you entered in Part I of Form W-9. If you are providing Form W-9 to an FFI to document a joint account, each holder of the account that is a U.S. person must provide a Form W-9.

a. **Individual.** Generally, enter the name shown on your tax return. If you have changed your last name without informing the Social Security Administration (SSA) of the name change, enter your first name, the last name as shown on your social security card, and your new last name.

Note: ITIN applicant: Enter your individual name as it was entered on your Form W-7 application, line 1a. This should also be the same as the name you entered on the Form 1040/1040A/1040EZ you filed with your application.

- b. **Sole proprietor or single-member LLC.** Enter your individual name as shown on your 1040/1040A/1040EZ on line 1. You may enter your business, trade, or "doing business as" (DBA) name on line 2.
- c. Partnership, LLC that is not a single-member LLC, C corporation, or S corporation. Enter the entity's name as shown on the entity's tax return on line 1 and any business, trade, or DBA name on line 2.
- d. **Other entities.** Enter your name as shown on required U.S. federal tax documents on line 1. This name should match the name shown on the charter or other legal document creating the entity. You may enter any business, trade, or DBA name on line 2.
- e. **Disregarded entity.** For U.S. federal tax purposes, an entity that is disregarded as an entity separate from its owner is treated as a "disregarded entity." See Regulations section 301.7701-2(c)(2)(iii). Enter the owner's name on line 1. The name of the entity entered on line 1 should never be a disregarded entity. The name on line 1 should be the name shown on the income tax return on which the income should be reported. For example, if a foreign LLC that is treated as a disregarded entity for U.S. federal tax purposes has a single owner that is a U.S. person, the U.S. owner's name is required to be provided on line 1. If the direct owner of the entity is also a disregarded entity, enter the first owner that is not disregarded for federal tax purposes. Enter the disregarded entity's name on line 2, "Business name/disregarded entity name." If the owner of the disregarded entity is a foreign person, the owner must complete an appropriate Form W-8 instead of a Form W-9. This is the case even if the foreign person has a U.S. TIN.

Line 2

If you have a business name, trade name, DBA name, or disregarded entity name, you may enter it on line 2.

Line 3

Check the appropriate box on line 3 for the U.S. federal tax classification of the person whose name is entered on line 1. Check only one box on line 3.

IF the entity/person on line 1 is a(n)	THEN check the box for
Corporation	Corporation
Individual Sole proprietorship, or Single-member limited liability company (LLC) owned by an individual and disregarded for U.S. federal tax purposes.	Individual/sole proprietor or single- member LLC
LLC treated as a partnership for U.S. federal tax purposes, LLC that has filed Form 8832 or 2553 to be taxed as a corporation, or LLC that is disregarded as an entity separate from its owner but the owner is another LLC that is not disregarded for U.S. federal tax purposes.	Limited liability company and enter the appropriate tax classification. (P= Partnership; C= C corporation; or S= S corporation)
Partnership	Partnership
Trust/estate	Trust/estate

Line 4, Exemptions

If you are exempt from backup withholding and/or FATCA reporting, enter in the appropriate space on line 4 any code(s) that may apply to you.

Exempt payee code.

- Generally, individuals (including sole proprietors) are not exempt from backup withholding.
- Except as provided below, corporations are exempt from backup withholding for certain payments, including interest and dividends.
- Corporations are not exempt from backup withholding for payments made in settlement of payment card or third party network transactions.
- Corporations are not exempt from backup withholding with respect to attorneys' fees or gross proceeds paid to attorneys, and corporations that provide medical or health care services are not exempt with respect to payments reportable on Form 1099-MISC.

The following codes identify payees that are exempt from backup withholding. Enter the appropriate code in the space in line 4.

- 1—An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a), any IRA, or a custodial account under section 403(b)(7) if the account satisfies the requirements of section 401(f)(2)
- 2-The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities
- 3—A state, the District of Columbia, a U.S. commonwealth or possession, or any of their political subdivisions or instrumentalities
- 4—A foreign government or any of its political subdivisions, agencies, or instrumentalities
- 5-A corporation
- 6—A dealer in securities or commodities required to register in the United States, the District of Columbia, or a U.S. commonwealth or possession
- 7—A futures commission merchant registered with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission
- 8-A real estate investment trust
- 9—An entity registered at all times during the tax year under the Investment Company Act of 1940
- 10-A common trust fund operated by a bank under section 584(a)
- 11-A financial institution
- 12-A middleman known in the investment community as a nominee or custodian
- 13—A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 4947

The following chart shows types of payments that may be exempt from backup withholding. The chart applies to the exempt payees listed above, 1 through 13.

IF the payment is for	THEN the payment is exempt for
Interest and dividend payments	All exempt payees except for 7
Broker transactions	Exempt payees 1 through 4 and 6 through 11 and all C corporations. S corporations must not enter an exempt payee code because they are exempt only for sales of noncovered securities acquired prior to 2012.
Barter exchange transactions and patronage dividends	Exempt payees 1 through 4
Payments over \$600 required to be reported and direct sales over \$5,000 ¹	Generally, exempt payees 1 through 5 ²
Payments made in settlement of payment card or third party network transactions	Exempt payees 1 through 4

¹ See Form 1099-MISC, Miscellaneous Income, and its instructions.

Exemption from FATCA reporting code. The following codes identify payees that are exempt from reporting under FATCA. These codes apply to persons submitting this form for accounts maintained outside of the United States by certain foreign financial institutions. Therefore, if you are only submitting this form for an account you hold in the United States, you may leave this field blank. Consult with the person requesting this form if you are uncertain if the financial institution is subject to these requirements. A requester may indicate that a code is not required by providing you with a Form W-9 with "Not Applicable" (or any similar indication) written or printed on the line for a FATCA exemption code.

A—An organization exempt from tax under section 501(a) or any individual retirement plan as defined in section 7701(a)(37)

B-The United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities

C—A state, the District of Columbia, a U.S. commonwealth or possession, or any of their political subdivisions or instrumentalities

D-A corporation the stock of which is regularly traded on one or more established securities markets, as described in Regulations section 1.1472-1(c)(1)(i)

E—A corporation that is a member of the same expanded affiliated group as a corporation described in Regulations section 1.1472-1(c)(1)(i)

F—A dealer in securities, commodities, or derivative financial instruments (including notional principal contracts, futures, forwards, and options) that is registered as such under the laws of the United States or any state

G-A real estate investment trust

H—A regulated investment company as defined in section 851 or an entity registered at all times during the tax year under the Investment Company Act of 1940

I-A common trust fund as defined in section 584(a)

J-A bank as defined in section 581

K-A broker

L—A trust exempt from tax under section 664 or described in section 4947(a)(1)

M-A tax exempt trust under a section 403(b) plan or section 457(g) plan

Note: You may wish to consult with the financial institution requesting this form to determine whether the FATCA code and/or exempt payee code should be completed.

Line 5

Enter your address (number, street, and apartment or suite number). This is where the requester of this Form W-9 will mail your information returns. If this address differs from the one the requester already has on file, write NEW at the top. If a new address is provided, there is still a chance the old address will be used until the payor changes your address in their records.

Line 6

Enter your city, state, and ZIP code.

Part I. Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN)

Enter your TIN in the appropriate box. If you are a resident alien and you do not have and are not eligible to get an SSN, your TIN is your IRS individual taxpayer identification number (ITIN). Enter it in the social security number box. If you do not have an ITIN, see *How to get a TIN* below.

If you are a sole proprietor and you have an EIN, you may enter either your SSN or EIN.

If you are a single-member LLC that is disregarded as an entity separate from its owner, enter the owner's SSN (or EIN, if the owner has one). Do not enter the disregarded entity's EIN. If the LLC is classified as a corporation or partnership, enter the entity's EIN.

Note: See *What Name and Number To Give the Requester,* later, for further clarification of name and TIN combinations.

How to get a TIN. If you do not have a TIN, apply for one immediately. To apply for an SSN, get Form SS-5, Application for a Social Security Card, from your local SSA office or get this form online at www.SSA.gov. You may also get this form by calling 1-800-772-1213. Use Form W-7, Application for IRS Individual Taxpayer Identification Number, to apply for an ITIN, or Form SS-4, Application for Employer Identification Number, to apply for an EIN. You can apply for an EIN online by accessing the IRS website at www.irs.gov/Businesses and clicking on Employer Identification Number (EIN) under Starting a Business. Go to www.irs.gov/Forms to view, download, or print Form W-7 and/or Form SS-4. Or, you can go to www.irs.gov/OrderForms to place an order and have Form W-7 and/or SS-4 mailed to you within 10 business days.

If you are asked to complete Form W-9 but do not have a TIN, apply for a TIN and write "Applied For" in the space for the TIN, sign and date the form, and give it to the requester. For interest and dividend payments, and certain payments made with respect to readily tradable instruments, generally you will have 60 days to get a TIN and give it to the requester before you are subject to backup withholding on payments. The 60-day rule does not apply to other types of payments. You will be subject to backup withholding on all such payments until you provide your TIN to the requester.

Note: Entering "Applied For" means that you have already applied for a TIN or that you intend to apply for one soon.

Caution: A disregarded U.S. entity that has a foreign owner must use the appropriate Form W-8.

Part II. Certification

To establish to the withholding agent that you are a U.S. person, or resident alien, sign Form W-9. You may be requested to sign by the withholding agent even if item 1, 4, or 5 below indicates otherwise.

For a joint account, only the person whose TIN is shown in Part I should sign (when required). In the case of a disregarded entity, the person identified on line 1 must sign. Exempt payees, see *Exempt payee code*, earlier.

Signature requirements. Complete the certification as indicated in items 1 through 5 below.

² However, the following payments made to a corporation and reportable on Form 1099-MISC are not exempt from backup withholding: medical and health care payments, attorneys' fees, gross proceeds paid to an attorney reportable under section 6045(f), and payments for services paid by a federal executive agency.

- 1. Interest, dividend, and barter exchange accounts opened before 1984 and broker accounts considered active during 1983. You must give your correct TIN, but you do not have to sign the certification.
- 2. Interest, dividend, broker, and barter exchange accounts opened after 1983 and broker accounts considered inactive during 1983. You must sign the certification or backup withholding will apply. If you are subject to backup withholding and you are merely providing your correct TIN to the requester, you must cross out item 2 in the certification before signing the form.
- **3. Real estate transactions.** You must sign the certification. You may cross out item 2 of the certification.
- **4. Other payments.** You must give your correct TIN, but you do not have to sign the certification unless you have been notified that you have previously given an incorrect TIN. "Other payments" include payments made in the course of the requester's trade or business for rents, royalties, goods (other than bills for merchandise), medical and health care services (including payments to corporations), payments to a nonemployee for services, payments made in settlement of payment card and third party network transactions, payments to certain fishing boat crew members and fishermen, and gross proceeds paid to attorneys (including payments to corporations).
- 5. Mortgage interest paid by you, acquisition or abandonment of secured property, cancellation of debt, qualified tuition program payments (under section 529), ABLE accounts (under section 529A), IRA, Coverdell ESA, Archer MSA or HSA contributions or distributions, and pension distributions. You must give your correct TIN, but you do not have to sign the certification.

What Name and Number To Give the Requester

	•
For this type of account:	Give name and SSN of:
1. Individual	The individual
Two or more individuals (joint account) other than an account maintained by an FFI	The actual owner of the account or, if combined funds, the first individual on the account 1
3. Two or more U.S. persons (joint account maintained by an FFI)	Each holder of the account
Custodial account of a minor (Uniform Gift to Minors Act)	The minor ²
5. a. The usual revocable savings trust (grantor is also trustee)	The grantor-trustee ¹
b. So-called trust account that is not a legal or valid trust under state law	The actual owner ¹
Sole proprietorship or disregarded entity owned by an individual	The owner ³
7. Grantor trust filing under Optional Form 1099 Filing Method 1 (see Regulations section 1.671-4(b)(2)(i) (A))	The grantor*
For this type of account:	Give name and EIN of:
Disregarded entity not owned by an individual	The owner
9. A valid trust, estate, or pension trust	Legal entity ⁴
10. Corporation or LLC electing corporate status on Form 8832 or Form 2553	The corporation
Association, club, religious, charitable, educational, or other tax- exempt organization	The organization
12. Partnership or multi-member LLC	The partnership
13. A broker or registered nominee	The broker or nominee

For this type of account:	Give name and EIN of:
14. Account with the Department of Agriculture in the name of a public entity (such as a state or local government, school district, or prison) that receives agricultural program payments	The public entity
15. Grantor trust filing under the Form 1041 Filing Method or the Optional Form 1099 Filing Method 2 (see Regulations section 1.671-4(b)(2)(i)(B))	The trust

- ¹ List first and circle the name of the person whose number you furnish. If only one person on a joint account has an SSN, that person's number must be furnished.
- ² Circle the minor's name and furnish the minor's SSN.
- ³ You must show your individual name and you may also enter your business or DBA name on the "Business name/disregarded entity" name line. You may use either your SSN or EIN (if you have one), but the IRS encourages you to use your SSN.
- ⁴ List first and circle the name of the trust, estate, or pension trust. (Do not furnish the TIN of the personal representative or trustee unless the legal entity itself is not designated in the account title.) Also see *Special rules for partnerships*, earlier.

*Note: The grantor also must provide a Form W-9 to trustee of trust.

Note: If no name is circled when more than one name is listed, the number will be considered to be that of the first name listed.

Secure Your Tax Records From Identity Theft

Identity theft occurs when someone uses your personal information such as your name, SSN, or other identifying information, without your permission, to commit fraud or other crimes. An identity thief may use your SSN to get a job or may file a tax return using your SSN to receive a refund.

To reduce your risk:

- Protect your SSN.
- Ensure your employer is protecting your SSN, and
- Be careful when choosing a tax preparer.

If your tax records are affected by identity theft and you receive a notice from the IRS, respond right away to the name and phone number printed on the IRS notice or letter.

If your tax records are not currently affected by identity theft but you think you are at risk due to a lost or stolen purse or wallet, questionable credit card activity or credit report, contact the IRS Identity Theft Hotline at 1-800-908-4490 or submit Form 14039.

For more information, see Pub. 5027, Identity Theft Information for Taxpayers.

Victims of identity theft who are experiencing economic harm or a systemic problem, or are seeking help in resolving tax problems that have not been resolved through normal channels, may be eligible for Taxpayer Advocate Service (TAS) assistance. You can reach TAS by calling the TAS toll-free case intake line at 1-877-777-4778 or TTY/TDD 1-800-829-4059.

Protect yourself from suspicious emails or phishing schemes. Phishing is the creation and use of email and websites designed to mimic legitimate business emails and websites. The most common act is sending an email to a user falsely claiming to be an established legitimate enterprise in an attempt to scam the user into surrendering private information that will be used for identity theft.

The IRS does not initiate contacts with taxpayers via emails. Also, the IRS does not request personal detailed information through email or ask taxpayers for the PIN numbers, passwords, or similar secret access information for their credit card, bank, or other financial accounts.

If you receive an unsolicited email claiming to be from the IRS, forward this message to <code>phishing@irs.gov</code>. You may also report misuse of the IRS name, logo, or other IRS property to the Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration (TIGTA) at 1-800-366-4484. You can forward suspicious emails to the Federal Trade Commission at <code>spam@uce.gov</code> or report them at <code>www.ftc.gov/complaint</code>. You can contact the FTC at <code>www.ftc.gov/idtheft</code> or 877-IDTHEFT (877-438-4338). If you have been the victim of identity theft, see <code>www.ldentityTheft.gov</code> and Pub. 5027.

Visit www.irs.gov/IdentityTheft to learn more about identity theft and how to reduce your risk.

Privacy Act Notice

Section 6109 of the Internal Revenue Code requires you to provide your correct TIN to persons (including federal agencies) who are required to file information returns with the IRS to report interest, dividends, or certain other income paid to you; mortgage interest you paid; the acquisition or abandonment of secured property; the cancellation of debt; or contributions you made to an IRA, Archer MSA, or HSA. The person collecting this form uses the information on the form to file information returns with the IRS, reporting the above information. Routine uses of this information include giving it to the Department of Justice for civil and criminal litigation and to cities, states, the District of Columbia, and U.S. commonwealths and possessions for use in administering their laws. The information also may be disclosed to other countries under a treaty, to federal and state agencies to enforce civil and criminal laws, or to federal law enforcement and intelligence agencies to combat terrorism. You must provide your TIN whether or not you are required to file a tax return. Under section 3406, payers must generally withhold a percentage of taxable interest, dividend, and certain other payments to a payee who does not give a TIN to the payer. Certain penalties may also apply for providing false or fraudulent information.

Page 6